
1

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 16th July, 2019

You are invited to attend the next meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which will 
be held at: 

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping
on Tuesday, 16th July, 2019
at 7.30 pm .

Georgina Blakemore
Chief Executive

Democratic Services 
Officer:

Gary Woodhall Tel: (01992) 564470
Email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Members:

Councillors M Sartin (Chairman), R Jennings (Vice-Chairman), R Baldwin, P Bolton, 
L Burrows, D Dorrell, S Heather, Y  Knight, G Mohindra, S Murray, S Neville, S Rackham, 
P Stalker, D Sunger, J H Whitehouse and D Wixley

PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS TO ATTEND
SUBSTITUTE NOMINATION DEADLINE 18:30

WEBCASTING NOTICE

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council's internet site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is being filmed. 

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection 
Act. Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the 
Council’s published policy and copies made available to those who request it..

Therefore by entering the Chamber and using the lower public seating area, you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for web casting and/or training purposes. If members of the public do not 
wish to have their image captured they should sit in the upper council chamber 
public gallery area

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Public Relations Manager 
on 01992 564039.



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 16 July 2019

2

1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION  

This meeting is to be webcast. Members are reminded of the need to activate their 
microphones before speaking. The Chairman will read the following announcement:

“The Chairman would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be 
broadcast live to the internet (or filmed) and will be capable of repeated viewing (or 
another use by such third parties).

If you are seated in the lower public seating area it is likely that the recording cameras 
will capture your image and this will result in the possibility that your image will 
become part of the broadcast.

This may infringe your human and data protection rights and if you wish to avoid this 
you should move to the upper public gallery.”

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

3. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

To report the appointment of any substitute members for the meeting. 

4. MINUTES  

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 4 June 2019 
(previously circulated).

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

To declare interests in any item of the agenda.

In considering whether to declare a pecuniary or a non-pecuniary interest under the 
Council’s Code of Conduct, members are asked pay particular attention to paragraph 
11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements.

This requires the declaration of a non-pecuniary interest in any matter before overview 
and scrutiny which relates to a decision of or action by another committee, sub-
committee of the Council, a joint committee or joint sub-committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member.

Paragraph 11 of the Code of Conduct does not refer to Cabinet decisions or 
attendance at an overview and scrutiny meeting purely for the purpose of answering 
questions or providing information on such a matter.

6. PUBLIC QUESTIONS & REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

To receive questions submitted by members of the public and any requests to address 
the Committee. 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 16 July 2019

3

(a) Public Questions

Members of the public may ask questions of the Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at ordinary meetings of the Committee, in accordance with the procedure 
set out in the Council’s Constitution.

(b) Requests to address the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Any member of the public or a representative of another organisation may address the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on any agenda item (except those dealt with in 
private session as exempt or confidential business), due to be considered at the 
meeting.

7. EXECUTIVE DECISIONS - CALL-IN  

To consider any matter referred to the Committee for decision in relation to a call-in.

8. CABINET BUSINESS  (Pages 7 - 22)

Recommendation:

That the Committee review the Executive’s current programme of Key 
Decisions to enable the identification of appropriate matters for the 
overview and scrutiny work programme and the overview of specific 
decisions proposed to be taken over the period of the plan. 

Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny) of the Constitution requires that the Committee 
review the Executive’s programme of Key Decisions (the Cabinet Forward Plan) at 
each meeting, to enable the identification of appropriate matters for the overview and 
scrutiny work programme and to provide an opportunity for the overview of specific 
decisions proposed to be taken over the period of the plan. 

The Constitution (Article 14 (Decision Making)) defines a Key Decision as an 
executive decision which:

(a) involves expenditure or savings of £250,000 or above which are currently within 
budget and policy;

(b) involves expenditure or savings of £100,000 or above which are NOT currently 
within budget and policy;

(c) is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in 
an area comprising two or more wards;

(d) raises new issues of policy;
(e) increases financial commitments (i.e. revenue and/or capital) in future years 

over and above existing budgetary approval;
(f) comprises and includes the publication of draft or final schemes which may 

require, either directly or in relation to objections to, the approval of a 
Government Minister; or

(g) involves the promotion of local legislation.

Wherever possible, Portfolio Holders will attend the Committee to present forthcoming 
key decisions, to answer questions on the forward plan and to indicate where 
appropriate work could be carried out by overview and scrutiny on behalf of the 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 16 July 2019

4

Cabinet.

The Executive’s current programme of Key Decisions is attached as an appendix to 
this report.

9. STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY IN LOCAL & COMBINED 
AUTHORITIES  (Pages 23 - 60)

(Democratic Services Manager) To consider the attached report, following the 
statutory guidance recently issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government.

10. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY SELECT COMMITTEES - MEMBERSHIP 2019/20  (Pages 
61 - 62)

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

That the Committee note:

(a) the appointment of Councillor H. Brady to membership of the 
Stronger Council Select Committee for the 2019/20 municipal year; 
and

(b) the corrected appointment of members of the Loughton Residents 
Association Group to membership of the Stronger Council Select 
Committee and Stronger Place Select Committee for 2019/20. 

(Democratic Services Manager) At its previous meeting, the Committee made 
appointment to membership of the select committees for the current municipal year. 

At the time of these appointments, one nomination of the Conservative Group for  
membership of the Stronger Council Select Committee remained outstanding. The 
Leader of the Conservative Group has subsequently advised that Councillor H. Brady 
should be appointed to membership of the select committee.

Subsequent to the appointment process, it was reported by the Leader of the 
Loughton Residents Association Group that an error had been made with regard to 
the reporting of some of its nominations to the select committees, in that the 
nominations for the Stronger Council Select Committee and Stronger Place Select 
Committee were transposed in the schedule presented to the Committee. 

Although the appointments were therefore incorrectly agreed, it was the view of the 
Chairman of the Committee that the error did not affect the decision of the Committee 
and that, subject to a report being made to this meeting to clarify the correct 
appointments, it was appropriate for the first cycle of meetings of the select 
committees to proceed in accordance with the nomination submissions of the 
Loughton Residents Association Group. 

Details of the corrected appointment of members to the select committee for 2019/20 
are attached. 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 16 July 2019

5

11. WASTE MANAGEMENT TASK & FINISH PANEL  (Pages 63 - 68)

(Democratic Services Manager) To consider the attached report.

12. CORPORATE PLAN ACTION PLAN YEAR 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT  (Pages 69 
- 80)

(Service Director – Communities & Partnerships) To consider the attached report.

13. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19  (Pages 81 - 112)

(Democratic Services Manager) To consider the attached report.

14. SCRUTINY OF EXTERNAL ORGANISATION - EPPING FOREST COLLEGE  
(Pages 113 - 116)

To consider the attached report.

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 117 - 120)

Progress towards the achievement of the work programme for the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is reviewed at each meeting.

(a) Current Work Programme

The current work programme for the Committee is attached as an appendix to this 
agenda.

(b) Reserve Programme

A reserve list of scrutiny topics is developed as required, to ensure that the work flow 
of overview and scrutiny is continuous. When necessary, the Committee will allocate 
items from the list appropriately, once resources become available in the work 
programme, following the completion of any ongoing scrutiny activity. 

Members can put forward suggestions for inclusion in the work programme or reserve 
list through the adopted PICK process. Existing review items will be dealt with first, 
after which time will be allocated to the items contained in the reserve work plan. 

16. SELECT COMMITTEES - WORK PROGRAMMES  (Pages 121 - 126)

(Chairmen of the Select Committees) Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny) of the 
Constitution requires that the Chairmen of the three Select Committees report to the 
meeting on progress with the achievement of the current work programme for each 
Select Committee and on any recommendations for consideration by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

The current work programme for each Select Committee is attached as an Appendix 
to this agenda.

17. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  

Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 16 July 2019

6

Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2):

Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 
Paragraph Number

Nil Nil Nil

The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting.

Background Papers:  Article 17 - Access to Information, Procedure Rules of the 
Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion:

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 
report is based;  and

(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 
include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information and in respect of executive reports, the advice of any political 
advisor.

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the 
meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers.



1

THE KEY DECISION LIST 

INCLUDING PROPOSED PRIVATE DECISIONS

(01 July 2019)

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 8



2

The Key Decision List including Proposed Private Decisions

There is a legal requirement for local authorities to publish a notice in respect of each Key Decision that it proposes to make, at least 28 days before that 
decision is made. There is also a similar requirement to advertise those decisions, whether they are Key Decisions or not, which it is proposed to be 
made in private with the public and press excluded from the meeting. This Key Decision List, including those decisions proposed to be made in private, 
constitute that notice. Copies of the Key Decision List are available for inspection at the Council’s Civic Offices, as well as on the Council’s website in 
the ‘Your Council’ section.

Any background paper listed can be obtained by contacting the relevant Officer in the first instance, or failing that the Democratic Services Officer listed 
below.

Key Decisions

The Council’s Constitution defines key decisions as:

(i) Any decision within budget and policy that involves expenditure/savings of £250,000 or more in the current municipal year;

(ii) Any decision not within budget and policy that involves expenditure/savings of £100,000 or more in the current municipal year;

(iii) Any decision that raises new issues of policy;

(iv) Any decision that increases the Council’s financial commitments in future years, over and above existing budgetary approval;

(v) Any decision that involves the publication of draft or final schemes, which may require either directly, or in relation to objections to, the 
approval of a Government minister;

(vi) Any decision that involves the passage of local legislation; and

(vii) Any decision that affects two or more wards, and has a discernible effect on the quality or quantity of services provided to people living or 
working in that area.

Borrowing or lending decisions undertaken under delegated authority by the Chief Financial Officer are not defined as a key decision.

The Council has also agreed the following additional requirements in relation to key decisions:

(a) Key decisions cannot be made by officers;

(b) Key decisions not within budget and policy can only be made by the Council; 

P
age 8



3

(c) Key decisions within budget and policy but involving expenditure/savings in excess of £1million can only be made by the Cabinet and/or 
Council;

(d) Key decisions within budget and policy but involving expenditure/savings between £250,000 and £1million can be made by the relevant 
Portfolio Holder;

(e) Portfolio Holders can only make key decisions affecting their wards if the decision is based upon a recommendation by a Service Director 
or as one of a range of options recommended by a Service Director.

Private Decisions

Any decisions that are proposed to be taken in private will be reported as such. The paragraph number quoted relates to Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, and their definitions are as follows:

(1) Information relating to any individual.

(2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).

(4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.

(5) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes:

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.

(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

P
age 9



4

Corporate Aims & Key Objectives 2019/20

Stronger Communities

(1) People live longer, healthier and independent lives:

(a) supporting healthy lifestyles; and

(b) promoting independence for older people and people with disabilities;

(2) Adults and Children are supported in times of need:

(a) safeguarding and supporting people in vulnerable situations; and

(3) People and Communities achieve their potential:

(a) enabling Communities to support themselves;

(b) Providing culture and leisure opportunities; and

(c) Keeping the District safe.

Stronger Place

(1) Delivering effective core services that people want:

(a) Keeping the District clean and green; and

(b) Improving the District housing offer;

(2) A District with planned development:

(a) Planning development opportunities; and

(b) Ensuring infrastructure supports growth; and

(3) An environment where new and existing businesses thrive:

P
age 10



5

(a) Supporting business enterprise and attracting investment;

(b) People develop skills to maximise their employment potential; and

(c) Promoting retail, tourism and the visitor economy.

Stronger Council

(1) Customer satisfaction:

(a) Engaging with the changing needs of our customers;

(2) Democratic engagement:

(a) Robust local democracy and governance;

(3) A culture of innovation:

(a) Enhancing skills and flexibility of our workforce; and

(b) Improving performance through innovation and new technology; and

(4) Financial independence with low Council Tax:

(a) Efficient use of our financial resources, buildings and assets; and

(b) Working with commercial partners to add value for our customers.

P
age 11



6

Cabinet Membership 2019/20

Chris Whitbread Leader of the Council 
Syd Stavrou Business Support 
Aniket Patel Commercial & Regulatory Services 
Sam Kane Customer Services
John Philip Planning Services
Alan Lion Strategic Projects
Holly Whitbread Housing & Property Services
Nigel Bedford Community & Partnership Services
Nigel Avey Contract & Technical Services

Contact Officer

Adrian Hendry Tel: 01992 564246
Senior Democratic Services Officer Email: ahendry@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

P
age 12



7

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - LEADER

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

People 
Strategy - 
Ongoing

To establish the Council’s 
new Common Operating 
Model as part of the People 
Strategy.

To consider further details 
for the implementation of the 
Council’s People Strategy.

Yes Cabinet  Georgina Blakemore
01992 564233

PID P170 - People 
Strategy Common 
Operating Model - 
Management 
Structure

St John's 
Road 
Redevelopm
ent - 
Ongoing

To proceed with the new 
Leisure Centre in 
Partnership with Places 
Leisure and to Seek 
Expressions of interest for 
the Cinema. Ongoing 
reporting.

Yes Cabinet  Georgina Blakemore
01992 56 4233

P
age 13



8

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - PLANNING SERVICES

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

Local Plan / 
Budget 
Update

Local Plan Budget update 
report.

Yes 10 December 
2018

Cabinet  Alison Blom-Cooper
01992 56 4066

Delivering 
Infrastructure 
in the District

To agree the Developer 
Contributions Strategy.

Yes 11 July 2019 Cabinet  Alison Blom-Cooper
01992 56 4066

Local Plan 
Implementati
on Update

To note the progress that 
has been made with 
Masterplans including PPA’s 
and QRP.

Yes 11 July 2019 Cabinet  Alison Blom-Cooper
01992 56 4066

P
age 14



9

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - BUSINESS SUPPORT

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

P
age 15



10

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - CONTRACT AND TECHNICAL SERVICES

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

Vere Road 
Car Park

To create new car parking 
provision in the Vere Road 
car park.

No 5 September 2019 Cabinet  Qasim Durrani
01992 564055

Waste 
Management 
Review

Review of the Waste and 
Recycling service and the 
costs of the dry recycling 
sacks.

Yes 5 September 2019 Cabinet  Qasim Durrani
01992 564055

Private 
Water 
Supplies

Review of charging regime 
under the 2018 Regulations

Yes 5 September 2019 Cabinet  Qasim Durrani
01992 564055

Procurement 
Strategy

The Procurement Strategy 
sets out the Council’s 
procurement objectives and 
principles and describes the 
contribution that effective 
procurement will make to the 
achievement of Epping 
Forest District Council’s 
vision and corporate 
priorities.

Yes Finance and 
Performance 
Management 
Cabinet Committee

 Shane McNamara
01992 56 4331P

age 16



11

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - HOUSING AND PROPERTY SERVICES

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

Council 
Housebuildin
g 
Programme

To award the contracts for 
the Housebuilding works.

Yes 1 November 2018 Council 
Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee

 Paul Pledger
01992 564248

Housing 
Strategy 
2018

To approve a new Housing 
Strategy Acton Plan 
2018/19.

Yes 1 November 2018 Housing & Property 
Services Portfolio 
Holder

 Paul Pledger
01992 564248

Options 
Appraisal for 
the future 
delivery of 
the EFDC 
responsive 
repairs 
service

The contract with the 
company that currently 
manages the Council in 
house repairs service is 
coming to an end in April 
2020. There are no further 
provisions for contract 
extension at the end of this 
period. The Council need to 
consider the best way to 
deliver the service going 
forward. The report provides 
a feasibility study of the 
different options for the 
future model.

Yes 11 July 2019 Cabinet  Sacha Jevans
01992 56 4229

Fire Safety 
Policy

To endorse the Fire Safety 
Policy.

Yes 11 July 2019 Cabinet  Paul Pledger
01992 564248

Service 
Company & 
Development 
Company

Proposal for the creation of 
a new company structure 
that will facilitate the setup of 
a council owned services 
trading company, a 
development company and 
a local housing company.

Yes 11 July 2019 Cabinet  Yes, para. 3 Sacha Jevans
01992 56 4229

Sheltered 
Housing 
Assets

To receive the Communities 
Select Committee’s views on 
the initial scope of a project 
to review the Council’s 
Sheltered Housing Assets.

To consider the 

Yes 5 December 2019 Cabinet  Paul Pledger
01992 564248

P
age 17



12

development potential of 
Sheltered Housing assets.

P
age 18



13

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - COMMUNITY AND PARTNERSHIP  SERVICES

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

CCTV 
Strategy

Review and update of the 
Council’s CCTV Strategy.

Yes 24 October 2019 Cabinet  Caroline Wiggins
01992 564122

Economic 
Strategy and 
Staffing

To review the findings of the 
Council’s Economic 
Development Strategy 
Consultation and consider 
staff resourcing.

Yes 5 September 2019 Cabinet  Julie Chandler
01992 564214

P
age 19



14

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - STRATEGIC PROJECTS

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

P
age 20



15

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - CUSTOMER SERVICES

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

District 
Electoral 
Review

Gain approval for an 
Electoral Review of the 
District Council.

Yes 26 March 2020 Cabinet  Rob Pavey
01992 564211

P
age 21



16

WORK PROGRAMME - 1 JULY 2019 TO 31 OCTOBER 2019 PORTFOLIO - COMMERCIAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES

ITEM DESCRIPTION KEY
DECISION

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER

PRIVATE 
DECISION

REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

North Weald 
Airfield 
Masterplan

To seek expressions of 
interest to develop the 
identified Masterplanning 
area on North Weald 
Airfield.

Yes 6 February 2020 Cabinet  Jim Nolan
01992 56 4083

P
age 22



Report to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of meeting: 16 July 2019
 

Subject: Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny in Local & Combined Authorities

Officer contact for further information: S. Tautz (01992) 564180

Democratic Services Officer: G. Woodhall (01992) 564470

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

That the Committee consider statutory guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in 
Local and Combined Authorities, recently published by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government.

1. In September 2017 the Communities and Local Government Select Committee 
undertook a review of the effectiveness of overview and scrutiny in local authorities, 
taking into account a broad range of evidence from a variety of sources. The review 
concluded with the publication of the Select Committee’s findings and 
recommendations in December 2017.

2. The Government published its response to the Communities and Local Government 
Select Committee report in March 2018, giving a commitment to publish new scrutiny 
guidance for local authorities by December 2018. Unfortunately, such guidance was not 
published during the period of the recent review of the Council’s overview and scrutiny 
select committee framework and was not therefore able to be considered by the Task 
and Finish Panel that undertook the review. The guidance was eventually published in 
May 2019 and is set out in Appendix 1 to this report.

3. Local authorities must have regard to the guidance when exercising overview and 
scrutiny functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does not 
mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but 
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case.

4. The guidance highlights a number of specific areas that directly contribute towards the 
effectiveness of overview and scrutiny. These range from practical advice on items 
such as the importance of work programming to the less tangible and harder to 
influence, such as organisational culture. The six themes set out in the guidance are: 

 Culture;
 Resourcing;
 Selecting Committee Members;
 Power to Access Information;
 Planning Work; and
 Evidence Sessions.

5. The content of the six themes are summarised in the following paragraphs of this 
report.

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



Culture

6. The guidance acknowledges that organisational culture within local authorities is one of 
the key measures of the success of overview and scrutiny, with an emphasis placed on 
the importance of overview and scrutiny being owned and led by Members.

7. It is also highlighted within the guidance that the performance of overview and scrutiny 
and its effectiveness can be considered by external bodies such as regulators and 
published in public reports. The guidance lists a range of suggested mechanisms to 
help ensure that the organisational culture is supportive of the role of scrutiny, 
including:

(a) recognising the legal and democratic legitimacy of overview and scrutiny - the 
need for all members and officers to recognise the importance and legitimacy of 
overview and scrutiny, which has specific powers set out in law, is highlighted 
within the guidance;

(b) identifying a clear role and focus - it is recommended that there is a need for 
overview and scrutiny to have a clearly defined role within the organisation that is 
focussed on providing value. It is emphasised that there needs to be a clear 
division of responsibilities between overview and scrutiny and audit functions;

(c) ensuring early and regular engagement between the Cabinet and overview and 
scrutiny - it is recommended that there should be early and regular discussions 
between overview and scrutiny and the Cabinet, particularly in regard to the 
Cabinet’s future work programme;

(d) managing disagreement - the guidance recommends that a protocol is developed 
to manage any instances when the Cabinet disagrees with recommendations of 
overview and scrutiny;

(e) providing the necessary support - the guidance recognises that determining the 
level of support available for overview and scrutiny is a matter for individual 
authorities, but it does highlight that appropriate support should be given to allow 
members to access information required to fulfil their duties;

(f) ensuring impartial advice from officers - the guidance reconfirms the need for 
officers to be able to give impartial advice to overview and scrutiny highlighting, in 
particular, the importance of the ‘statutory officer’ roles (Head of Paid Service, 
Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer);

(g) communicating the role and purpose of overview and scrutiny - the guidance 
highlights that a lack of awareness of the role of overview and scrutiny can act as 
an impediment to its success. As such it is crucial to communicate the importance 
of overview and scrutiny and the role it plays in decision-making, to ensure that 
officers are aware of the role of overview and scrutiny and the importance of 
providing support to the overview and scrutiny function;

(h) maintaining the interest of the Council in the work of overview and scrutiny - the 
guidance notes that it is important that other non-scrutiny members are kept 
informed of the work of overview and scrutiny. The suggested mechanism for this 
is through the submission reports and recommendations to full Council rather 
than solely to the Cabinet;

(i) communicating the role of overview and scrutiny to the public - the guidance 
suggests engaging with the Communications Team to publicise and raise 
awareness of the work of overview and scrutiny in the local community; and

(j) ensuring that overview and scrutiny members are supported in having an 
independent mindset. The guidance acknowledges the difficulty for members in 
potentially having to scrutinise colleagues, but emphasises that in order for 
overview and scrutiny to work effectively, it is fundamental that members have an 
independent mindset. It highlights the need for the chairmen of overview and 
scrutiny committees to work proactively to identify any contentious issues and 
plan how to manage them. 

8. Some of these issues are outside of the remit of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
to directly influence. The Committee may therefore wish to consider highlighting 

Page 24



relevant issues to the Constitution Working Group, in order that consideration can be 
given to how these matters could be implemented.

Resourcing

9. As already identified, the guidance does not seek to prescribe a specific level of officer 
support allocated to be allocated to overview and scrutiny, but it does highlight that an 
appropriate level of support is required to ensure that overview and scrutiny functions 
effectively. In addition to specific officer support, the guidance highlights that any 
support should also include the way the wider Council engages with overview and 
scrutiny.

Selecting Committee Members

10. The guidance emphasises the need to consider experience, expertise, interests, ability 
to act impartially, ability to work as part of a group and capacity to serve when selecting 
members to serve on overview and scrutiny committees. The guidance recognises the 
importance that the role of the chairman plays in the success of overview and scrutiny, 
with this role being responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of 
working. A suggestion is made for using a secret ballot as a method for selecting 
scrutiny chairs, but it is acknowledged that it is up to local authorities to choose the best 
method for their circumstances.

11. It is recommended that ongoing training is provided for Scrutiny Members to allow them 
to fulfil their roles successfully. In particular the need for Members to be aware of their 
legal powers and understand how to prepare for and ask relevant questions at overview 
and scrutiny meetings are essential. The guidance also recognises the value that can 
be added by outside expertise through either co-option of members onto a committee 
or the use of technical advisors for specific subject. 

Power to Access Information

12. The guidance reemphasises the legal powers for overview and scrutiny to access 
information in order to be able to carry out its work. This includes regular access to key 
sources of information such as data on finance, performance and risk. The guidance 
also sets out a number of considerations for overview and scrutiny when requesting 
information from external organisations including the need to explain the purpose of 
scrutiny, highlighting the benefits of an informal approach, how to encourage 
compliance with the request and who best to approach.

Planning Work

13. The guidance stresses the importance of work programming in the success of overview 
and scrutiny, with a focus needed on items that can make a tangible difference. In 
planning its work programme, it is recommended that overview and scrutiny should 
have in the main a long-term plan, but with enough flexibility to ensure that urgent, 
short term issues can be considered as needed.

14. It is recognised that there needs to be coordination across the work programmes of 
individual overview and scrutiny committees, with necessary prioritisation to ensure that 
the intended outcome for a specific item remains focussed. Coordination will also help 
ensure that the best use is made of the available support for scrutiny. 

15. The guidance recommends using a variety of sources to inform the work programme, 
including the public, partner organisations and the Cabinet. In consulting with the 
public, the guidance highlights that formal consultation on overview and scrutiny 
committee activity may be less successful than individual members having 
conversations with groups and individuals within their local communities.

Page 25



16. The guidance also recommends the use of shortlisting processes to decide which 
topics to include in the work programme, to ensure that the items selected for overview 
and scrutiny activity can add value. The guidance sets out a number of different ways in 
which topics can be scrutinised, including having a single item on an agenda, 
dedicating a whole meeting to one item, a short task and finish group, a longer-term 
task and finish group or a standing panel. The guidance sets out when it might be most 
appropriate to use each of these approached to overview and scrutiny activity.

Evidence Sessions

17. The guidance highlights that evidence sessions are a key way for overview and scrutiny 
committees to inform their work and emphasises the need for effective planning. In 
particular, it is recommended that consideration is given to setting overall objectives for 
each session and the types of questions that need to be asked to achieve such 
objectives.

18. In developing recommendations from evidence sessions, the guidance advocates the 
need for them to be evidence based and SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, 
relevant and timed). The guidance also suggests that a maximum of six to eight 
recommendations per topic should be sufficient to ensure that a focussed response is 
received.

Recommendations

19. The Committee is requested to consider the statutory guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities, recently published by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government, and to identify whether any changes are 
required to current processes as a result of the guidance.

Resource Implications:

The recommendations of this report seek to enable scrutiny activity to more effectively meet 
statutory requirements. 

Legal and Governance Implications:

The Council must have regard to the Statutory Guidance published by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government when exercising overview and scrutiny 
functions. The constitution sets out rules for the management of its overview and scrutiny 
responsibilities. 

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Implications:

There are no implications arising from the recommendations of this report in respect of the 
Council’s commitment to the Climate Local Agreement, the corporate Safer, Cleaner, 
Greener initiative, or any crime and disorder issues within the district. 

Consultation Undertaken:

This report requests the Committee to consider the Statutory Guidance published by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.

Background Papers: 

None

Page 26



Impact Assessments:

Risk Management

The Council’s constitution sets out rules for the management of its overview and scrutiny 
responsibilities.

Equality

There are no equality implications arising from the recommendations of this report. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

May 2019 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities 

 

Page 29



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2019 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

May 2019 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5458-6

Page 30

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 

3 

Contents 

Ministerial Foreword 4 

About this Guidance 5 

1. Introduction and Context 7 

2. Culture 8 

3. Resourcing 13 

4. Selecting Committee Members 15 

5. Power to Access Information 18 

6. Planning Work 21 

7. Evidence Sessions 25 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 27 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging Independent Technical Advisers 28 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching an External Organisation to Appear 
before a Committee 30 

 

 

Page 31



 

4 

Ministerial Foreword 

The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s decision-makers to 
account makes it fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 
democracy. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and 
drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can be indicative 
of wider governance, leadership and service failure. 
 
It is vital that councils and combined authorities know the purpose of scrutiny, what 
effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it and the benefits it can bring. This guidance 
aims to increase understanding in all four areas. 
 
In writing this guidance, my department has taken close note of the House of Commons 
Select Committee report of December 2017, as well as the written and oral evidence 
supplied to that Committee. We have also consulted individuals and organisations with 
practical involvement in conducting, researching and supporting scrutiny. 
 
It is clear from speaking to these practitioners that local and combined authorities with 
effective overview and scrutiny arrangements in place share certain key traits, the most 
important being a strong organisational culture. Authorities who welcome challenge and 
recognise the value scrutiny can bring reap the benefits. But this depends on strong 
commitment from the top - from senior members as well as senior officials. 
 
Crucially, this guidance recognises that authorities have democratic mandates and are 
ultimately accountable to their electorates, and that authorities themselves are best-placed 
to know which scrutiny arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual 
circumstances. 
 
I would, however, strongly urge all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing 
arrangements and, above all, ensure they embed a culture that allows overview and 
scrutiny to flourish. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
      Rishi Sunak MP 
     Minister for Local Government 

  

Page 32



 

5 

About this Guidance 

Who the guidance is for 
This document is aimed at local authorities and combined authorities in England to help 
them carry out their overview and scrutiny functions effectively. In particular, it provides 
advice for senior leaders, members of overview and scrutiny committees, and support 
officers. 
 

Aim of the guidance 
This guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the 
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it 
effectively and the benefits it can bring. 
 
As such, it includes a number of policies and practices authorities should adopt or should 
consider adopting when deciding how to carry out their overview and scrutiny functions. 
 
The guidance recognises that authorities approach scrutiny in different ways and have 
different processes and procedures in place, and that what might work well for one 
authority might not work well in another. 
 
The hypothetical scenarios contained in the annexes to this guidance have been included 
for illustrative purposes, and are intended to provoke thought and discussion rather than 
serve as a ‘best’ way to approach the relevant issues. 
 
While the guidance sets out some of the key legal requirements, it does not seek to 
replicate legislation. 
 

Status of the guidance 
This is statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. Local authorities and combined authorities must have regard to it when 
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does 
not mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but 
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case. 
 
Not every authority is required to appoint a scrutiny committee. This guidance applies to 
those authorities who have such a committee in place, whether they are required to or not. 
 
This guidance has been issued under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 and 
under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development 
and Construction Act 2009, which requires authorities to have regard to this guidance. In 
addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might choose to consider, 
including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, when exercising their overview and 
scrutiny functions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

6 

Terminology 
Unless ‘overview’ is specifically mentioned, the term ‘scrutiny’ refers to both overview and 
scrutiny.1 

 
Where the term ‘authority’ is used, it refers to both local authorities and combined 
authorities. 
 
Where the term ‘scrutiny committee’ is used, it refers to an overview and scrutiny 
committee and any of its sub-committees. As the legislation refers throughout to powers 
conferred on scrutiny committees, that is the wording used in this guidance. However, the 
guidance should be seen as applying equally to work undertaken in informal task and 
finish groups, commissioned by formal committees. 
 
Where the term ‘executive’ is used, it refers to executive members. 
 
For combined authorities, references to the ‘executive’ or ‘cabinet’ should be interpreted as 
relating to the mayor (where applicable) and all the authority members. 
 
For authorities operating committee rather than executive arrangements, references to the 
executive or Cabinet should be interpreted as relating to councillors in leadership 
positions. 
 

Expiry or review date 
This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary. 
  

                                            
 
1 A distinction is often drawn between ‘overview’ which focuses on the development of 
policy, and ‘scrutiny’ which looks at decisions that have been made or are about to be 
made to ensure they are fit for purpose. 

Page 34



 

7 

1. Introduction and Context 

1. Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new 
executive governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who 
were not part of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions 
and actions that affect their communities. 

 
2. Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers2 to scrutinise decisions 

the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have 
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable 
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and 
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3. The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny 
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

 
4. The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils 

to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils 
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but 
may do so if they wish. The legislation has been strengthened and updated since 
2000, most recently to reflect new governance arrangements with combined 
authorities. Requirements for combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

 
5. Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are 

democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview 
and scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a 
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt. 

 
6. In producing this guidance, the Government fully recognises both authorities’ 

democratic mandate and that the nature of local government has changed in recent 
years, with, for example, the creation of combined authorities, and councils 
increasingly delivering key services in partnership with other organisations or 
outsourcing them entirely. 

  

                                            
 
2 Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 1 of Schedule 5A to the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Effective overview and scrutiny should: 

• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 

• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 

• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their 
role; and 

• Drive improvement in public services. 
 

Page 35



 

8 

2. Culture 

7. The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority will 
largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails. 

 
8. While everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive 

to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, given 
their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority. 
 

9. Creating a strong organisational culture supports scrutiny work that can add real 
value by, for example, improving policy-making and the efficient delivery of public 
services. In contrast, low levels of support for and engagement with the scrutiny 
function often lead to poor quality and ill-focused work that serves to reinforce the 
perception that it is of little worth or relevance. 

 
10. Members and senior officers should note that the performance of the scrutiny 

function is not just of interest to the authority itself. Its effectiveness, or lack thereof, 
is often considered by external bodies such as regulators and inspectors, and 
highlighted in public reports, including best value inspection reports. Failures in 
scrutiny can therefore help to create a negative public image of the work of an 
authority as a whole. 

 
How to establish a strong organisational culture 

11. Authorities can establish a strong organisational culture by: 
 

a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all members and 
officers should recognise and appreciate the importance and legitimacy the 
scrutiny function is afforded by the law. It was created to act as a check and 
balance on the executive and is a statutory requirement for all authorities 
operating executive arrangements and for combined authorities. 
 
Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being democratically 
elected. The insights that they can bring by having this close connection to local 
people are part of what gives scrutiny its value.  
 

b) Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to ensure 
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, i.e. a niche within 
which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. Therefore, prioritisation is 
necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on delivering work that 
is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider authority – this is one 
of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get right if it is 
to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority (see chapter 6). 
 
Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities between the 
scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is appropriate for scrutiny to pay 
due regard to the authority’s financial position, this will need to happen in the 
context of the formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise 
scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic. 

Page 36



 

9 

 
While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the authority’s 
whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of independent whistleblowing 
investigations might be of interest to scrutiny committees as they consider their 
wider implications. Members should always follow the authority’s constitution 
and associated Monitoring Officer directions on the matter. Further guidance on 
whistleblowing can be found at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-
and-code-of-practice.pdf. 
 

c) Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and 
scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular discussion takes place 
between scrutiny and the executive, especially regarding the latter’s future work 
programme. Authorities should, though, be mindful of their distinct roles: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
d) Managing disagreement – effective scrutiny involves looking at issues that can 

be politically contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive 
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny committee. 
 
It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk 
of this happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act 
on disagreement. 
 
One way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ (see 
annex 1) which can help define the relationship between the two and mitigate 
any differences of opinion before they manifest themselves in unhelpful and 
unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a framework 
for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often, 

In particular: 
 

• The executive should not try to exercise control over the work of 
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to 
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or 
indirect, e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political 
patronage, and the committee itself should remember its 
statutory purpose when carrying out its work. All members and 
officers should consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to 
be that of a ‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny 
chairs have a particular role to play in establishing the profile and 
nature of their committee (see chapter 4); and 

 

• The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature 
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny 
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group 
meeting. 

Page 37

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

10 

the value of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its preparation. It 
is important that these protocols are reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the 
executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view 
it as a substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a 
party-political tool. 
 

e) Providing the necessary support – while the level of resource allocated to 
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for itself, when determining resources an 
authority should consider the purpose of scrutiny as set out in legislation and 
the specific role and remit of the authority’s own scrutiny committee(s), and the 
scrutiny function as a whole. 
 
Support should also be given by members and senior officers to scrutiny 
committees and their support staff to access information held by the authority 
and facilitate discussions with representatives of external bodies (see chapter 
5). 
 

f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers – authorities, particularly senior 
officers, should ensure all officers are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny 
committees. This is fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is 
the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the section 151 
officer and the head of paid service, and where relevant the statutory scrutiny 
officer. These individuals have a particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant 
and high-quality advice is provided to scrutiny.  
 

g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider authority – the 
scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within an authority 
because there is a lack of awareness among both members and officers about 
the specific role it plays, which individuals are involved and its relevance to the 
authority’s wider work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays 
in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has, 
its membership and, if appropriate, the identity of those providing officer 
support. 
 

h) Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny 
committee – part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full Council – 
particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable work to highlight 
challenging issues that an authority will be facing and subjects that will be a 
focus of full Council’s work. Authorities should therefore take steps to ensure full 
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing. 
 
One way in which this can be done is by reports and recommendations being 
submitted to full Council rather than solely to the executive. Scrutiny should 
decide when it would be appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this 
way, taking into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as 
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely manner. Such 

Page 38



 

11 

reports would supplement the annual report to full Council on scrutiny’s 
activities and raise awareness of ongoing work. 
 
In order to maintain awareness of scrutiny at the Combined Authority and 
provoke dialogue and discussion of its impact, the business of scrutiny should 
be reported to the Combined Authority board or to the chairs of the relevant 
scrutiny committees of constituent and non-constituent authorities, or both. At 
those chairs’ discretion, particular Combined Authority scrutiny outcomes, and 
what they might mean for each individual area, could be either discussed by 
scrutiny in committee or referred to full Council of the constituent authorities.  
 

i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public – authorities should ensure 
scrutiny has a profile in the wider community. Consideration should be given to 
how and when to engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other 
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. This will 
usually require engagement early on in the work programming process (see 
chapter 6). 
 

j) Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent 
mindset – formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny 
members to question the executive and officers. 
 
Inevitably, some committee members will come from the same political party as 
a member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing personal, 
or familial, relationship with them (see paragraph 25). 
 
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an independent 
mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work effectively. In practice, this is 
likely to require scrutiny chairs working proactively to identify any potentially 
contentious issues and plan how to manage them. 

 
Directly-elected mayoral systems 

12. A strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work is particularly important 
in authorities with a directly-elected mayor to ensure there are the checks and 
balances to maintain a robust democratic system. Mayoral systems offer the 
opportunity for greater public accountability and stronger governance, but there 
have also been incidents that highlight the importance of creating and maintaining a 
culture that puts scrutiny at the heart of its operations.  

 
13. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should ensure that scrutiny committees are 

well-resourced, are able to recruit high-calibre members and that their scrutiny 
functions pay particular attention to issues surrounding: 

• rights of access to documents by the press, public and councillors; 

• transparent and fully recorded decision-making processes, especially 
avoiding decisions by ‘unofficial’ committees or working groups; 

• delegated decisions by the Mayor; 

• whistleblowing protections for both staff and councillors; and 

• powers of Full Council, where applicable, to question and review. 
 

Page 39



 

12 

14. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should note that mayors are required by 
law to attend overview and scrutiny committee sessions when asked to do so (see 
paragraph 44). 

  

Page 40



 

13 

3. Resourcing 

15. The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in 
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to the 
work of the authority. 

 
16. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it provides, but every 

authority should recognise that creating and sustaining an effective scrutiny function 
requires them to allocate resources to it. 

 
17. Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny committees, task groups 

and other activities is not solely about budgets and provision of officer time, 
although these are clearly extremely important elements. Effective support is also 
about the ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry out the 
scrutiny function (both members and officers). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Statutory scrutiny officers 

18. Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required to designate a 
statutory scrutiny officer,3 someone whose role is to: 

• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee; 

• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and 

• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to the functions 
of the scrutiny committee. 

 

                                            
 
3 Section 9FB of the Local Government Act 2000; article 9 of the Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 
2017 

When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny 
function, the factors an authority should consider include: 

• Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities; 

• The particular role and remit scrutiny will play in the authority; 

• The training requirements of scrutiny members and support 
officers, particularly the support needed to ask effective 
questions of the executive and other key partners, and make 
effective recommendations; 

• The need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not 
exist in the council; 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add value to 
the work of authorities, improving their ability to meet the needs 
of local people; and 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny can help policy formulation and so 
minimise the need for call-in of executive decisions. 

 

Page 41



 

14 

19. Authorities not required by law to appoint such an officer should consider whether 
doing so would be appropriate for their specific local needs. 

 
Officer resource models 

20. Authorities are free to decide for themselves which wider officer support model best 
suits their individual circumstances, though generally they adopt one or a mix of the 
following: 

• Committee – officers are drawn from specific policy or service areas; 

• Integrated – officers are drawn from the corporate centre and also service the 
executive; and 

• Specialist – officers are dedicated to scrutiny. 
 

21. Each model has its merits – the committee model provides service-specific 
expertise; the integrated model facilitates closer and earlier scrutiny involvement in 
policy formation and alignment of corporate work programmes; and the specialist 
model is structurally independent from those areas it scrutinises. 

 
22. Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, officers tasked with 

providing scrutiny support are able to provide impartial advice. This might require 
consideration of the need to build safeguards into the way that support is provided. 
The nature of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny 
plays in the organisation. 

  

Page 42



 

15 

4. Selecting Committee Members 

23. Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is essential if those 
committees are to function effectively. Where a committee is made up of members 
who have the necessary skills and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken 
seriously by the wider authority. 

 
24. While there are proportionality requirements that must be met,4 the selection of the 

chair and other committee members is for each authority to decide for itself. 
Guidance for combined authorities on this issue has been produced by the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be members of a 
scrutiny committee.6 Authorities should take care to ensure that, as a minimum, 
members holding less formal executive positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not 
sit on scrutinising committees looking at portfolios to which those roles relate. 
Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of interest, including 
familial links (see also paragraph 31), between executive and scrutiny 
responsibilities should be managed, including where members stand down from the 
executive and move to a scrutiny role, and vice-versa. 

 
26. Members or substitute members of a combined authority must not be members of 

its overview and scrutiny committee.7 This includes the Mayor in Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. It is advised that Deputy Mayors for Policing and Crime are also not 
members of the combined authority’s overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
Selecting individual committee members 

27. When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny committees, an authority 
should consider a member’s experience, expertise, interests, ability to act 
impartially, ability to work as part of a group, and capacity to serve. 

 

                                            
 
4 See, for example, regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/1020) and article 4 of the Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 
2017/68). 
5 See pages 15-18 of ‘Overview and scrutiny in combined authorities: a plain English 
guide’: https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-

authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf 
6 Section 9FA(3) of the Local Government Act 2000. 
7 2(3) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009 

Members invariably have different skill-sets. What an authority must 
consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it possesses the 
requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act impartially to fulfil its 
functions. 

Page 43

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf


 

16 

28. Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived level of support for 
or opposition to a particular political party (notwithstanding the wider legal 
requirement for proportionality referred to in paragraph 24). 

 
Selecting a chair 

29. The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they are largely 
responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of working. 

 
30. The attributes authorities should and should not take into account when selecting 

individual committee members (see paragraphs 27 and 28) also apply to the 
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability to lead and build 
a sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

31. Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is strongly recommended 
that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives8. Combined authorities 
should note the legal requirements that apply to them where the Chair is an 
independent person9. 

 
32. The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for itself, however 

every authority should consider taking a vote by secret ballot. Combined Authorities 
should be aware of the legal requirements regarding the party affiliation of their 
scrutiny committee Chair10. 

 
Training for committee members 

33. Authorities should ensure committee members are offered induction when they take 
up their role and ongoing training so they can carry out their responsibilities 
effectively. Authorities should pay attention to the need to ensure committee 
members are aware of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant 
questions at scrutiny sessions. 

 
34. When deciding on training requirements for committee members, authorities should 

consider taking advantage of opportunities offered by external providers in the 
sector. 

 
Co-option and technical advice 

35. While members and their support officers will often have significant local insight and 
an understanding of local people and their needs, the provision of outside expertise 
can be invaluable. 

                                            
 
8 A definition of ‘relative’ can be found at section 28(10) of the Localism Act 2011. 
9 See article 5(2) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access 
to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/68). 
10 Article 5(6) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the 
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take care 
to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto 
opposition to the executive. 

Page 44



 

17 

 
36. There are two principal ways to procure this: 

• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation11. Authorities must 
establish a co-option scheme to determine how individuals will be co-opted onto 
committees; and 

• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, independent local 
experts might exist who can provide advice and assistance in evaluating 
evidence (see annex 2). 

  

                                            
 
11 Section 9FA(4) Local Government Act 2000 

Page 45



 

18 

5. Power to Access Information 

37. A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority holds, and 
to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively. 

 
38. This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny committees enjoying 

powers to access information12. In particular, regulations give enhanced powers to a 
scrutiny member to access exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to 
existing rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their duties, 
including common law rights to request information and rights to request information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 

 
39. When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry out its work, 

scrutiny members and the executive should consider scrutiny’s role and the legal 
rights that committees and their individual members have, as well as their need to 
receive timely and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively. 

 
40. Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available source of key 

information about the management of the authority – particularly on performance, 
management and risk. Where this information exists, and scrutiny members are 
given support to understand it, the potential for what officers might consider 
unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will be able to frame 
their requests from a more informed position. 

 
41. Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they understand the reasons 

why information is needed, thereby making the authority better able to provide 
information that is relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority 
complies with legal requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 

42. The law recognises that there might be instances where it is legitimate for an 
authority to withhold information and places a requirement on the executive to 
provide the scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for 
that decision13. However, members of the executive and senior officers should take 
particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the information they provide, 
for reasons of party political or reputational expediency. 

                                            
 
12 Regulation 17 - Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10 Combined Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
13 Regulation 17(4) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(4) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

While each request for information should be judged on its individual 
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the 
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members. 
 

 

Page 46



 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 

43. Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply with requests 
from a scrutiny member14. When agreeing to such requests, authorities should: 

• consider whether seeking clarification from the information requester could 
help better target the request; and 

• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the recipient’s 
needs. 

 

44. Committees should be aware of their legal power to require members of the 
executive and officers to attend before them to answer questions15. It is the duty of 
members and officers to comply with such requests.16 

 
Seeking information from external organisations 

45. Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement any authority-held 
information they receive with information and intelligence that might be available 
from other sources, and should note in particular their statutory powers to access 
information from certain external organisations. 

 
46. When asking an external organisation to provide documentation or appear before it, 

and where that organisation is not legally obliged to do either (see annex 3), 
scrutiny committees should consider the following: 

 
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation being 

approached might have little or no awareness of the committee’s work, or of an 
authority’s scrutiny function more generally, and so might be reluctant to comply 
with any request; 
 

b) The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external 
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence session entails 
and may be unwilling to subject themselves to detailed public scrutiny if they 
believe it could reflect badly on them or their employer. Making an informal 
approach can help reassure an organisation of the aims of the committee, the 
type of information being sought and the manner in which the evidence session 
would be conducted; 
 

                                            
 
14 Regulation 17(2) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(2) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
15 Section 9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
16 Section 9FA(9) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(7) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Before an authority takes a decision not to share information it holds, it 
should give serious consideration to whether that information could be 
shared in closed session. 

Page 47



 

20 

c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny committees will 
want to frame their approach on a case by case basis. For contentious issues, 
committees might want to emphasise the opportunity their request gives the 
organisation to ‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and 
 

d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask the Chief 
Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to appear at an evidence 
session, however it could be more beneficial to engage front-line staff when 
seeking operational-level detail rather than senior executives who might only be 
able to talk in more general terms. When making a request to a specific 
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it is seeking, 
the nature of the organisation in question and the authority’s pre-existing 
relationship with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Following ‘the Council Pound’ 
Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public funding 
to deliver goods and services. 
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, where 
relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny members 
and their support staff to obtain information from organisations the 
council has contracted to deliver services. In particular, when agreeing 
contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider whether it 
would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply 
information to or appear before scrutiny committees. 
 

Page 48



 

21 

6. Planning Work 

47. Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with the committee 
making recommendations that will make a tangible difference to the work of the 
authority. To have this kind of impact, scrutiny committees need to plan their work 
programme, i.e. draw up a long-term agenda and consider making it flexible enough 
to accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during the year. 

 
48. Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a separate work 

programme for each committee. Where this happens, consideration should be given 
to how to co-ordinate the various committees’ work to make best use of the total 
resources available. 

 
Being clear about scrutiny’s role 

49. Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This provides focus and 
direction. While scrutiny has the power to look at anything which affects ‘the area, 
or the area’s inhabitants’, authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny 
function that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of issues 
experienced by local people, particularly in the context of partnership working. 
Prioritisation is necessary, which means that there might be things that, despite 
being important, scrutiny will not be able to look at. 

 
50. Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk, the authority’s finances, 

or on the way the authority works with its partners. 
 

51. Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off limits’. It is more 
about looking at topics and deciding whether their relative importance justifies the 
positive impact scrutiny’s further involvement could bring. 

 
52. When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, members should be supported by key senior 

officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an authority has one, will need to take a 
leading role in supporting members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and 
championing that role once agreed. 

 
Who to speak to 

53. Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work programming process. This 
will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right way and at the right time. 
Gathering evidence requires conversations with: 

• The public – it is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the scrutiny 
work programme will be ineffective. Asking individual scrutiny members to have 
conversations with individuals and groups in their own local areas can work 
better. Insights gained from the public through individual pieces of scrutiny work 
can be fed back into the work programming process. Listening to and 
participating in conversations in places where local people come together, 
including in online forums, can help authorities engage people on their own 
terms and yield more positive results. 
 

Page 49



 

22 

Authorities should consider how their communications officers can help scrutiny 
engage with the public, and how wider internal expertise and local knowledge 
from both members and officers might make a contribution. 

 

• The authority’s partners – relationships with other partners should not be limited 
to evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or agenda items. A range of 
partners are likely to have insights that will prove useful: 
o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community safety partners, over 

which scrutiny has specific legal powers); 
o Voluntary sector partners; 
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including partners in joint 

ventures and authority-owned companies); 
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils; 
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and unitary areas); 
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local Enterprise 

Partnerships17; and 
o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large local employers, 

for example. 
 

• The executive – a principal partner in discussions on the work programme 
should be the executive (and senior officers). The executive should not direct 
scrutiny’s work (see chapter 2), but conversations will help scrutiny members 
better understand how their work can be designed to align with the best 
opportunities to influence the authority’s wider work. 

 
Information sources 

54. Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work programme. The 
type of information will depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within 
the authority, but might include: 

• Performance information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Finance and risk information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information from political 
groups about the subject matter of members’ surgeries; 

• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning information) for 
forthcoming major decisions. This information will be of particular use for pre-
decision scrutiny; and 

• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, especially 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

                                            
 
17 Authorities should ensure they have appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the 
effective democratic scrutiny of Local Enterprise Partnerships’ investment decisions. 

Page 50



 

23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55. Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under regular review. It 
is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, rather than bringing such 
information to committee ’to note’, or to provide an update, as a matter of course. 

 
Shortlisting topics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56. Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work programme 
proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and debate, based on evidence, 
about what priorities should be, they can be a useful tool. Others take a looser 
approach. Whichever method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how 
and why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not others. 

 
57. Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; scrutiny 

committees have finite resources and deciding how these are best allocated is 
tough. They should understand that, if work programming is robust and effective, 
there might well be issues that they want to look at that nonetheless are not 
selected. 

 
Carrying out work 

58. Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including: 

 
a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a limited 

opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for some issues or 
where the committee wants to maintain a formal watching brief over a given 
issue; 
 

b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or something less 
formal. This can provide an opportunity to have a single public meeting about a 

As committees can meet in closed session, commercial confidentiality 
should not preclude the sharing of information. Authorities should note, 
however, that the default for meetings should be that they are held in 
public (see 2014 guidance on ‘Open and accountable local 
government’: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf). 

Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall role in 
the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, local 
solutions, however when considering whether an item should be 
included in the work programme, the kind of questions a scrutiny 
committee should consider might include: 

• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to 
this issue? 

• How could we best carry out work on this subject? 

• What would be the best outcome of this work? 

• How would this work engage with the activity of the 
executive and other decision-makers, including partners? 

 

Page 51

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf


 

24 

given subject, or to have a meeting at which evidence is taken from a number of 
witnesses; 
 

c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, sharp scrutiny 
reviews are likely to be most effective even for complex topics. Properly 
focused, they ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and make 
recommendations, perhaps over the course of a couple of months or less; 
 

d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task and finish 
model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over a number of months – 
is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to dig into a complex topic in significant 
detail. However, the resource implications of such work, and its length, can 
make it unattractive for all but the most complex matters; and 
 

e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of establishing a whole 
new committee but may reflect a necessity to keep a watching brief over a 
critical local issue, especially where members feel they need to convene 
regularly to carry out that oversight. Again, the resource implications of this 
approach means that it will be rarely used. 

  

Page 52



 

25 

7. Evidence Sessions 

59. Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees inform their work. 
They might happen at formal committee, in less formal ‘task and finish’ groups or at 
standalone sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How to plan 

60. Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of pre-meetings, the 
development of complex scopes or the drafting of questioning plans. It is more often 
about setting overall objectives and then considering what type of questions (and 
the way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the committee is 
seeking. This applies as much to individual agenda items as it does for longer 
evidence sessions – there should always be consideration in advance of what 
scrutiny is trying to get out of a particular evidence session. 

 
 
 
 
 

61. As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny members about the 
objective of an evidence session before it starts. It is important to recognise that 
members have different perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the 
objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this happens, the Chair 
will need to be aware of this divergence of views and bear it in mind when planning 
the evidence session. 

 
62. Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is relatively 

straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and highlight the key findings. 
It is unlikely that the committee will be able to develop and agree recommendations 
immediately, but, unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence 
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear direction. 

 
63. After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a short ‘wash-up’ 

meeting to review whether their objectives were met and lessons could be learned 
for future sessions. 

 
Developing recommendations 

64. The development and agreement of recommendations is often an iterative process. 
It will usually be appropriate for this to be done only by members, assisted by co-
optees where relevant. When deciding on recommendations, however, members 
should have due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the Monitoring 
Officer. 

Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence 
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the committee 
hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that success will 
depend on their ability to work together on the day. 

Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting and 
ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will play during 
the evidence session. 
 

Page 53



 

26 

 
65. The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by officers, directed by 

members. 
 

66. Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of ways, but there are 
normally three stages: 

 
i. the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out general 

findings that members can then discuss as they consider the overall structure 
and focus of the report and its recommendations; 
 

ii. the development of those findings, which will set out some areas on which 
recommendations might be made; and  
 

iii. the drafting of the full report. 
 

67. Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where appropriate, committees may 
wish to consider sharing them in draft with interested parties. 

 
68. Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight recommendations are 

sufficient to enable the authority to focus its response, although there may be 
specific circumstances in which more might be appropriate. 

 
 
 
  

Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should not 
provide an opportunity for them to revise or block recommendations 
before they are made. It should, however, provide an opportunity for 
errors to be identified and corrected, and for a more general sense-
check. 

Page 54



 

27 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an 
Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 

An executive-scrutiny protocol can deal with the practical expectations of scrutiny 
committee members and the executive, as well as the cultural dynamics. 
 
Workshops with scrutiny members, senior officers and Cabinet can be helpful to inform the 
drafting of a protocol. An external facilitator can help bring an independent perspective.  
 
Councils should consider how to adopt a protocol, e.g. formal agreement at scrutiny 
committee and Cabinet, then formal integration into the Council’s constitution at the next 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
The protocol, as agreed, may contain sections on: 
 

• The way scrutiny will go about developing its work programme (including the ways 
in which senior officers and Cabinet members will be kept informed); 

• The way in which senior officers and Cabinet will keep scrutiny informed of the 
outlines of major decisions as they are developed, to allow for discussion of 
scrutiny’s potential involvement in policy development. This involves the building in 
of safeguards to mitigate risks around the sharing of sensitive information with 
scrutiny members; 

• A strengthening and expansion of existing parts of the code of conduct that relate to 
behaviour in formal meetings, and in informal meetings; 

• Specification of the nature and form of responses that scrutiny can expect when it 
makes recommendations to the executive, when it makes requests to the executive 
for information, and when it makes requests that Cabinet members or senior 
officers attend meetings; and 

• Confirmation of the role of the statutory scrutiny officer, and Monitoring Officer, in 
overseeing compliance with the protocol, and ensuring that it is used to support the 
wider aim of supporting and promoting a culture of scrutiny, with matters relating to 
the protocol’s success being reported to full Council through the scrutiny Annual 
Report. 

  

Page 55



 

28 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging 
Independent Technical Advisers 

This example demonstrates how one Council’s executive and scrutiny committee worked 
together to scope a role and then appoint an independent adviser on transforming social 
care commissioning. Their considerations and process may be helpful and applicable in 
other similar scenarios.   
 
Major care contracts were coming to an end and the Council took the opportunity to review 
whether to continue with its existing strategic commissioning framework, or take a different 
approach – potentially insourcing certain elements. 
 
The relevant Director was concerned about the Council’s reliance on a very small number 
of large providers. The Director therefore approached the Scrutiny and Governance 
Manager to talk through the potential role scrutiny could play as the Council considered 
these changes. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair wanted to look at this issue in some depth, but recognised its 
complexity could make it difficult for her committee to engage – she was concerned it 
would not be able to do the issue justice. The Director offered support from his own officer 
team, but the Chair considered this approach to be beset by risks around the 
independence of the process. 
 
She talked to the Director about securing independent advice. He was worried that an 
independent adviser could come with preconceived ideas and would not understand the 
Council’s context and objectives. The Scrutiny Chair was concerned that independent 
advice could end up leading to scrutiny members being passive, relying on an adviser to 
do their thinking for them. They agreed that some form of independent assistance would 
be valuable, but that how it was provided and managed should be carefully thought out. 
 
With the assistance of the Governance and Scrutiny Manager, the Scrutiny Chair 
approached local universities and Further Education institutions to identify an appropriate 
individual. The approach was clear – it set out the precise role expected of the adviser, 
and explained the scrutiny process itself. Because members wanted to focus on the risks 
of market failure, and felt more confident on substantive social care matters, the approach 
was directed at those with a specialism in economics and business administration. The 
Council’s search was proactive – the assistance of the service department was drawn on 
to make direct approaches to particular individuals who could carry out this role. 
 
It was agreed to make a small budget available to act as a ‘per diem’ to support an 
adviser; academics were approached in the first instance as the Council felt able to make 
a case that an educational institution would provide this support for free as part of its 
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility. 
 
Three individuals were identified from the Council’s proactive search. The Chair and Vice-
Chair of the committee had an informal discussion with each – not so much to establish 
their skills and expertise (which had already been assessed) but to give a sense about 

Page 56



 

29 

their ‘fit’ with scrutiny’s objectives and their political nous in understanding the environment 
in which they would operate, and to satisfy themselves that they will apply themselves 
even-handedly to the task. The Director sat in on this process but played no part in who 
was ultimately selected. 
 
The independent advice provided by the selected individual gave the Scrutiny Committee 
a more comprehensive understanding of the issue and meant it was able to offer informed 
advice on the merits of putting in place a new strategic commissioning framework. 
  

Page 57



 

30 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching 
an External Organisation to Appear before a 
Committee 

This example shows how one council ensured a productive scrutiny meeting, involving a 
private company and the public. Lessons may be drawn and apply to other similar 
scenarios.  
 
Concerns had been expressed by user groups, and the public at large, about the reliability 
of the local bus service. The Scrutiny Chair wanted to question the bus company in a 
public evidence session but knew that she had no power to compel it to attend. Previous 
attempts to engage it had been unsuccessful; the company was not hostile, but said it had 
its own ways of engaging the public. 
 
The Monitoring Officer approached the company’s regional PR manager, but he expressed 
concern that the session would end in a ‘bunfight’. He also explained the company had put 
their improvement plan in the public domain, and felt a big council meeting would 
exacerbate tensions. 
 
Other councillors had strong views about the company – one thought the committee 
should tell the company it would be empty-chaired if it refused to attend. The Scrutiny 
Chair was sympathetic to this, but thought such an approach would not lead to any 
improvements. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair was keen to make progress, but it was difficult to find the right person 
to speak to at the company, so she asked council officers and local transport advocacy 
groups for advice. Speaking to those people also gave her a better sense of what 
scrutiny’s role might be. 
 
When she finally spoke to the company’s network manager, she explained the situation 
and suggested they work together to consider how the meeting could be productive for the 
Council, the company and local people. In particular, this provided her with an opportunity 
to explain scrutiny and its role. The network manager remained sceptical but was 
reassured that they could work together to ensure that the meeting would not be an 
‘ambush’. He agreed in principle to attend and also provide information to support the 
Committee’s work beforehand. 
 
Discussions continued in the four weeks leading up to the Committee meeting. The 
Scrutiny Chair was conscious that while she had to work with the company to ensure that 
the meeting was constructive – and secure their attendance – it could not be a whitewash, 
and other members and the public would demand a hard edge to the discussions. 
 
The scrutiny committee agreed that the meeting would provide a space for the company to 
provide context to the problems local people are experiencing, but that this would be 
preceded by a space on the agenda for the Chair, Vice-chair, and representatives from 
two local transport advocacy groups to set out their concerns. The company were sent in 

Page 58



 

31 

advance a summary of the general areas on which members were likely to ask questions, 
to ensure that those questions could be addressed at the meeting. 
 
Finally, provision was made for public questions and debate. Those attending the meeting 
were invited to discuss with each other the principal issues they wanted the meeting to 
cover. A short, facilitated discussion in the room led by the Chair highlighted the key 
issues, and the Chair then put those points to the company representatives.  
 
At the end of the meeting, the public asked questions of the bus company representative 
in a 20-minute plenary item. 
 
The meeting was fractious, but the planning carried out to prepare for this – by channelling 
issues through discussion and using the Chair to mediate the questioning – made things 
easier. Some attendees were initially frustrated by this structure, but the company 
representative was more open and less defensive than might otherwise have been the 
case.  
 
The meeting also motivated the company to revise its communications plan to become 
more responsive to this kind of challenge, part of which involved a commitment to feed 
back to the scrutiny committee on the recommendations it made on the night. 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



(S. Tautz – 4 June 2019)

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY SELECT COMMITTEES

APPOINTMENTS 2019/20

Stronger Communities Select Committee (11)

Chairman: Y. Knight

Vice-Chairman: J. Share-Bernia

Conservative Group (7): I. Hadley, J. Lea, Y. Knight, J. McIvor, A. Mitchell, 
S. Rackham, J. Share-Bernia

Green Party Group (1): D. Plummer
 
Liberal Democrat Group (1): J. H. Whitehouse

Loughton Residents Association Group (2): A. Beales, D. Wixley

Independent Members (0): 

Stronger Council Select Committee (11)*

Chairman: P. Bolton

Vice-Chairman: D. Stocker

Conservative Group (7): P. Bolton, R. Bassett, H. Brady, D. Dorrell, H. Kane, 
S. Rackham, D. Stocker

Green Party Group (1): No current nomination
 
Liberal Democrat Group (1): J. M. Whitehouse

Loughton Residents Association Group (2): R. Brookes, M. Owen

Independent Members (0): 

*Councillors appointed to the Audit and Governance Committee may not also be 
members of the Cabinet or any select committee appointed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with responsibility for reviewing the Council’s finances or 
financial procedures (Constitution – Article 11). For the purposes of the Council’s 
current Overview and Scrutiny framework, this provision relates directly to the 
Stronger Council Select Committee.

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



(S. Tautz – 4 June 2019)

Stronger Place Select Committee (11)

Chairman: D. Sunger

Vice-Chairman: S. Heather

Conservative Group (7):  L. Burrows, I. Hadley, S. Heather, S. Jones, J. McIvor, 
R. Morgan, D. Sunger

Green Party Group (1): S. Neville
 
Liberal Democrat Group (1): C. McCredie

Loughton Residents Association Group (2): J. Jennings, H. Kauffman

Independent Members (0): 

Page 62



1

Report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of meeting: 16 July 2019
 

Subject:  Waste Management Task and Finish Panel

Officer contact for further information: S. Tautz (01992) 564180

Democratic Services Officer: G. Woodhall (01992) 564470

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

That the Committee:

(a) agree the draft terms of reference and work programme for the Waste 
Management Task and Finish Panel for 2019/20; 

(b) make appointment to membership of the Task and Finish Panel for the 
remainder of the municipal year; and

(c) make appointment to the positions of chairman and vice-chairman of the 
proposed Task and Finish Panel for the remainder of the municipal year.

1. At its meeting on 4 June 2019, the Committee agreed the establishment of a new Task 
and Finish Panel to support the forthcoming review of the Council’s waste and recycling 
service. The establishment of a Task and Finish Panel in this regard was supported at 
the meeting by the Contracts and Technical Services Portfolio Holder.

2. The terms of reference, membership and work programme for a task and finish panel 
must be approved by the Committee. Draft terms of reference for the Waste 
Management Task and Finish Panel are therefore attached for consideration by the 
Committee as Appendix 1 to this report, together with an initial draft work programme 
for the remainder of the current municipal year (Appendix 2).

3. Expressions of interest in membership of the Task and Finish Panel have been sought 
through the Council Bulletin. The following members have so far indicated a wish to join 
the Panel:

Councillor S.Neville;
Councillor C. C. Pond; 
Councillor J. H. Whitehouse; and
Councillor D. Wixley.

4. The Overview and Scrutiny rules of the Constitution (Article 6) require that task and 
finish panels be flexible as to the number of councillors appointed to membership, 
although there is no restriction on the number of members that can be so appointed. 
Additionally, any councillor may be a member of a task and finish panel, save that a 
member of the Cabinet may not be a member of any panel which bears directly on their 
portfolio. 

5. Task and finish panels cannot be comprised of members of a single political group and 
it is a requirement of Article 6of the Constitution that a chairman and vice-chairman 
should be appointed to each panel.

Page 63

Agenda Item 11



2

6. The Task and Finish Panel will need to work quickly, in order that its findings and 
recommendations can be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 28 January 2020.

Resource Implications:

The recommendations of this report seek to enable scrutiny activity to more effectively meet 
work programme requirements. 

Legal and Governance Implications:

The Council’s constitution sets out rules for the management of its overview and scrutiny 
responsibilities. 

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Implications:

There are no implications arising from the recommendations of this report in respect of the 
Council’s commitment to the Climate Local Agreement, the corporate Safer, Cleaner, 
Greener initiative, or any crime and disorder issues within the district. 

Consultation Undertaken:

At its meeting on 4 June 2019, the Committee considered the proposed establishment of a 
Task and Finish Panel to support the review of the Council’s waste and recycling service. 
Expressions of interest in membership of the Task and Finish Panel were sought through the 
Council Bulletin.

Background Papers: 

None.

Impact Assessments:

Risk Management

The Council’s constitution (Article 6) sets out rules for the management of its overview and 
scrutiny responsibilities.

Equality:

There are no equality implications arising from the recommendations of this report. 

Page 64



1

WASTE MANAGEMENT TASK & FINISH PANEL

 TERMS OF REFERENCE

Origin

At its meeting on 4 June 2019, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed the 
establishment of a new Task and Finish Panel to support the forthcoming review of the 
Council’s waste and recycling service. 

Draft Terms of Reference

(1) That the Panel consider the likely impact of any government decision following the 
recently concluded Resource and Waste Strategy Consultation; 

(2) That the Panel consider:

(a) the possibility of exploring the introduction of a third wheeled-bin to replace the 
current clear recycling sacks for the collection of dry recycling materials;

(b) the future collection of food and garden waste in separate containers and the 
option of charging for the collection of garden waste;

(c) the possibility of not collecting garden waste in certain months of the year when 
demand is low; 

(d) the pressure on the waste collection contract due to the issues around the sale 
of recycling materials after processing; 

(e) a review of street cleansing arrangements with a view to achieve improvements 
in cleansing standards; and 

(f) improvements in the provision of waste and recycling containers and cleansing 
operations on the high street, including the segregation of recycling materials.

Aims and Objectives:

(1) To report findings to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to submit final 
recommendations for consideration by the Committee at its meeting on 28 January 
2020;

(1) To gather evidence and information in relation to the terms of reference through 
receipt of data, presentations and other means considered necessary; and

(2) To have due regard to relevant legislation and the Overview and Scrutiny rules of the 
Constitution (Article 6).

Timescales

(1) To agree membership of the Panel at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 16 July 2019;

(2) To agree the Terms of Reference of the Panel at the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 16 July 2019;

Page 65



2

(3) To hold the first meeting of the Panel by mid-September 2019;

(4) To undertake analysis of relevant data and relevant site visits by the end of November 
2019;

(5) To consider draft outcomes and recommendations to be made to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee by mid-December 2019;

(6) To regularly report progress to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to submit 
final recommendations for consideration by the Committee at its meeting on 28 
January 2020.

Commencement:

The work of the Task and Finish Panel should commence as soon as possible.

Completion:

The final recommendations of the Task and Finish Panel with regard to review of waste and 
recycling service is to be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting 
to be held on 28 January 2020.

Page 66



1

    Waste Management Task & Finish Panel

(Chairman – To be appointed)

Item Report Deadline/ 
Priority Progress/Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings
(1) Appointment of Chairman/Vice-Chairman and 

membership of the Task and Finish Panel;

(2) Agreement of the terms of reference and work 
programme for the Task and Finish Panel;

16 July 2019 
(Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Committee)

(3) Consideration of scope of the work of the Task 
and Finish Panel to support the review of the 
waste and recycling service;

20 August 2019 
(Provisional)

(4) To undertake analysis of relevant data and 
relevant site visits;

11 November 2019 
(Provisional)

(5) To consider draft outcomes and 
recommendations to be made to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee;

16 December 2019 
(Provisional)

To support the forthcoming review of 
the Council’s waste and recycling 
service. 

Submission of final 
recommendations to 
the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee on 
28 January 2020;

(6) Consideration of recommendations by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

28 January 2020 
(Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Committee)

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of meeting: 16 July 2019

Portfolio:                   Leader of the Council 

Subject:                     Corporate Plan Action Plan Year 2 Performance Report 

Officer contact for further 
information:

Julie Chandler (01992 564214)

Democratic Services Officer: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470)

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

(1) That the Committee reviews Q1 performance in relation to the Key Performance 
Indicators & Work Programmes within the Corporate Plan.

Report:

1. The Corporate Plan Action Plan provides a mechanism for reporting to Members on 
the Council’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and key Programmes of work and 
highlights the Councils overall performance against agreed Corporate Objectives.
 

2. The Year 2 Action Plan (covering 2019/20) represents the second reporting cycle for 
EFDC’s Corporate Plan (2018-23). Performance Measures for Year 2 have been 
streamlined to enable improved focus on how Corporate Objectives are being met.

3. The Q1 Action Plan Performance information is attached at Appendix 1.

Resource Implications:
Resource requirements for actions to achieve specific objectives or benefits within the 
plan will be identified by the responsible Service Director and reflected in the 
respective budget.

Legal and Governance Implications:
There are no legal or governance implications arising from the recommendations of 
this report. However, any implications arising from actions to achieve specific 
objectives or benefits will be identified by the responsible Service Director.

Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications:
There are no implications arising from the recommendations of this report in respect 
of the Council’s commitment to the Climate Local Agreement, the Safer, Cleaner and 
Greener initiative, or any crime and disorder issues with the district. Relevant 
implications arising from actions to achieve specific objectives or benefits will be 
identified by the responsible Service Director.

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



Consultation Undertaken:
Leadership Team
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Finance & Performance Management Cabinet Committee

Background Papers:
Corporate Plan Action Plan Year 2 Performance Report & FPMCC-002a Appendix 1 - 
Corp Plan Action Plan Year 2 Report v2
Epping Forest District Council Corporate Plan 2018-23
Epping Forest District Council Corporate Plan Progress Reports (Q1-Q4 2018/19)

Risk Management:
There are no risk management issues arising from the recommendations of this 
report. Relevant issues arising from actions to achieve specific objectives or benefits 
will be identified by the responsible service director during business planning and 
communicated to the Corporate Risk Management Group.

Page 70



1 

Stronger Communities 
 

Stronger Communities 

Strategic Aims: People live longer, healthier and independent lives, Adults and children are supported in times of need, People and communities achieve their full potential   
 

 Corporate Objective 

 1. Engaging with the changing needs of our customers 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Increased Customer Satisfaction  Overall Target = 67.00% Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Customer Services 
Director 

  

Aligning to the Council’s focus to put 
the customer at the heart of 
everything we do 

 Value Target Status 

2019/20  67.00%  
 

   
Please note this is an annual measure  

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  
Improved Customer first contact 
resolution 

Overall Target = 45.00% Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Customer Services 
Director 

  

The fundamental purpose of the 
corporate contact centre is to resolve 
customer enquires at the first point of 
contact, not including follow up calls 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

37.41% 45.00% 
 

 

  The 1st Quarter 2019/20 total figure has been 
estimated at 37.41% due the last week not yet 
being completed.   

 

  

Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Customer Excellence: Programme 

 A range of customer related projects 
to meet the changing needs of our 
customers 
  

RAG Corrective Action Work is underway on a number of projects including 
the Universal Credit Impact Working Group which 
will inform future actions when complete. The 
appointment of a new Customer Services Manager 
on 8th July 2019 will accelerate the work around a 

Customer Services 
Director 

  
 

  

P
age 71



2 

new Customer Service Strategy for delivery in 
October. 

 

  

Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Insight & Behaviour: Programme 

 A range of customer related projects 
to understand the wants & needs of 
our customers & the data evidence to 
support future decisions  
  

RAG Corrective Action There are on-going projects that will lead to future 
actions under this work programme. The Switch 
project in conjunction with Citizens Online is 
continuing and will shortly produce a deep-dive into 
the Council area and provide data and insight into 
future digital inclusion work which will be presented 
in October to the Stronger Communities select 
Committee. 

Customer Services 
Director 

  

 
  

 

 Corporate Objective 

 2. Supporting healthy lifestyles 

 

  

Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Delivery of the Epping Forest Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy Programme 

 To facilitate & directly deliver a range 
of health-related projects 
  

RAG Corrective Action The Epping Forest Health and Wellbeing Board 
membership has been reviewed and improved, as 
have the three action groups. The Epping Forest 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy Action Plan is being 
implemented and all targets have been met to date. 

Community and 
Partnership Services 
Director 

  
 

  

 

 Corporate Objective 

 3. Promoting independence for older people & people with disabilities 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  
Promote and raise awareness of 
Careline to increase the number of 

Overall Target =  137 Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Housing and 
Property Service 

P
age 72



3 

new Telecare alarm installations by 
10% each year 

Director 

  

Careline enables older and disabled 
residents to remain independent and 
living in their own homes for longer 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

46 34 
 

 

  Q1 - Target achieved 

 

 Corporate Objective 

 4. Safeguarding & supporting people in vulnerable situations 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  

Households accepted as being 
unintentionally homeless and in 
priority need 

Overall Target = 95 Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Housing and 
Property Service 
Director 

  

The Council takes all reasonable 
steps to prevent homelessness; the 
recent Homelessness Reduction Bill 
has increased statutory duties upon 
housing providers to prevent 
homelessness 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

20 24 
 

 

  Q1 - Target achieved 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  
To increase customer satisfaction of 
the Homesafe & Sanctuary schemes 

Overall Target =  33% Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Community and 
Partnership Services 
Director 

  

The schemes provide improved 
home security, reassurance and 
peace of mind to the most vulnerable 
residents of the district.Satisfaction is 
also based on the amount of survey 
returns (e.g. 12 out of 38 surveys 
were returned; of those 12 there was 
a 100% satisfaction rate) 

 Value Target Status 

2019/20  33.00%  
 

 Q1 - 8 community safety surveys were 
completed, 2 are outstanding and 1 
response was received - this is a position 
on 25hth June. 

Please note this is an annual measure and 
will be reported on at Q4.  

P
age 73



4 

 Corporate Objective 

 5. Enabling communities to support themselves 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  

To maintain the number of 
Community champions and 
volunteers in the district Champions 
and volunteers 

Overall Target = 50  Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Community and 
Partnership Services 
Director 

  

To increase the volunteer & 
Community Champion capacity 
across the District. 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

13 12 
 

 

 Q1 - target met 

 

 Corporate Objective 

 6. Provide culture & leisure 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  
Increase new leisure centre 
attendees year on year  

Overall Target = 260,028 Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Contracts and 
Technical Services 
Director 

  

Number of new leisure centre 
members across the District 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/
20 

200,086 65,007 
 

 

  Q1 - The performance data for the 
current reporting period is estimated only 
due to June not yet being completed. The 
attendance numbers for at each centre 
was as follows: 
 

• Epping - 28,743  

• Loughton - 77,690  

• Ongar - 27,018  

• Waltham Abbey - 66,635  
 

P
age 74



5 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Increase cultural activity attendance Overall Target = 206,000 Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Community and 
Partnership Services 
Director 

  

Cultural activity users of; Epping 
Forest District Museum, Lowewood 
Museum, Outreach activities, &; 
Remote users  

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/
20 

173,787 51,500 
 

 

  Q1 - target met (as of 24/6/19) 
 
Users in Person – 11,015 
Total Usage – 173,787 

 

 Corporate Objective 

 7. Keeping the district safe 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Community Safety Hub added value Overall Target =  95% Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Community and 
Partnership Services 
Director 

  

Measuring the positive disposables 
concluded by the Community Safety 
Hub (as set by the Police Activity & 
Tasking Log and by self-generation 
from officers). 
'Positive disposables' - indicates all 
positive outcomes including support 
for victims and actions carried out by 
the team 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

73% 95% 
 

 

Continue to monitor the Hub 
tasking log to ensure that 
outstanding activities and 
tasks are managed 
throughout the year (as 
investigations and actions 
are still ongoing). 

22 activity/tasks undertaken from Apr 
2019 to 24 June 2019. 16 completed: 

• 2 self generated actions outstanding  

• 4 tasks outstanding  

 
*The above is in addition to the patrols 
performed by the EFDC Community 
Safety Team officers. 

 

 Stronger Place 

Strategic Aims: Delivering effective core services that people want, A district with planned development, An environment where new and existing businesses thrive   
 

 08. Keeping the district clean & green 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

P
age 75



6 

  Increase in Recycling  Overall Target =  57% Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Contracts and 
Technical Services 
Director 

  

An increase in the amount of 
recycling produced by the 
District 

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

64.81% 57% 
 

 

  Q1 - This high recycling level is due to the 
green waste levels during this growing 
season and will now fall each quarter until 
the end of the year. 

 

  

Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 
Responsible 

Officer 

  Reduction of household waste  Overall Target = 410 Corrective Action (Quarterly updates) Contracts and 
Technical Services 
Director 

  

A reduction in the amount of 
household waste produced on 
average per household in the 
District  

 Value Target Status 

Q1 
2019/20 

89 95 
 

 

  Q1 - target met 

 

 09. Improving the district housing offer 
 

  

Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate 
& Responsible 

Officer 

  To deliver the Council 
housebuilding programme 

Building or acquiring new 
affordable properties in the 
District 

RAG Corrective Action Phase 1 – complete  

Phase 2 - due to the fire at Churchill Court contract 

completion has been delayed to September 2019. An 

extension of time claim from the contractor has been applied 

for but is yet to be determined. 

Phase 3 - works at Queens Road are progressing as per 

programme and it is hoped that some time can be shaved off 

the works programme. 

Phase 4,5 and 6 - Delays in receiving the results of the soil 

investigation have led to the design programme being a little 

behind schedule (particularly in relation to foundation and 

underground services). This has meant that the tender issue 

Housing and 
Property Service 
Director 

  

 Phase 2 - 17 houses handed over in May 

2019, Davis Court to handover in July 

2019 and Churchill Court to handover in 

September 2020. Delays mainly due to 

contamination, undetected live electricity 

cable on site and a major fire at Churchill 

Court. 

Phase 3 - with the exception of Queens 

Road all other sites in Phase 3 are 

completed. Queens Road is now 

progressing well despite earlier delays 

and is expect to complete in September 

P
age 76



7 

2020. 

Phases 4,5 and 6 - The tender period has 

been reduced to take into account delays 

in the design period. SoS is still expected 

in September 2019 for packages 1,2 and 

3. Packages 4-7 are in the design stage 

and we expect SoS in March 2020. 

 

has been delayed until the end of July 2019. 

 

 10. Planning development priorities & 11. Ensuring Infrastructure supports growth  
 

 

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  Local plan programme: 
Programme 

  

RAG Corrective Action The Local Plan examination hearings took longer than 
expected. It is unlikely that we will receive the 
Inspector's Report by July 2019 (as set out in the Local 
Development November 2018) which will have a knock 
on impact on the timescale for adoption of the Plan.  We 
will, however, receive interim findings from the Inspector 
by mid-July.   

Planning Service Director 

  

   

 
 

 12. Supporting business enterprise & attracting investment 

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  St Johns Road Programme 

A new development to provide 
a range of leisure & housing 
to residents & visitors to the 
District 
  

RAG Corrective Action Project management consultant appointed & working 
towards completion of Work Stage 1 resulting in a 
presentation to Cabinet on 5th December. 
 
Programme Board established and meeting monthly. 

Commercial and 
Regulatory Services 
Director   

  

 
  

 
 
 

P
age 77



8 

 13. People develop skills to maximise their potential & 14. Promoting retail, tourism & the visitor economy   

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  Growth/Skills/Employment 
Programme 

 A range of projects to provide 
a strategic approach to 
develop the economic & social 
well-being of the District  

RAG Corrective Action The key elements of the growth skills and employment 
programme are contained within the draft economic 
strategy 'Nurturing Growth' which is progressing through 
a consultation process 

Community and 
Partnership Services 
Director 

  

 
  

 
 

Stronger Council 

Strategic Aims: A culture of innovation, Financial independence with low Council Tax   
 

 15. Enhancing skills & flexibility of our workforce 

 

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  People Strategy Programme 

 A range of projects to 
improve the design & 
development of the Councils 
workforce to meet future 
needs & support the 
corporate direction of the 
Council 
  

RAG Corrective Action COM - Team Managers roles are being recruited 
 
Pay, Benefits & JE review - Collective Agreement agreed 
with Trade Unions, implementation date 1 Oct 19. To 
consult on job families 
Staff development to run in parallel with COM timetable. 
Recruitment Strategy complete, finalising the action plan. 
Development of ITrent - the programme of module 
implementation is ongoing. 

Business Services 
Service Director 

  

 
  

 

 16. Improving performance through innovation & new technology 
 

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  Digital Enablement 
Programme 

 A range of projects to 

RAG Corrective Action The overall Project Manager for the ICT Programme is 
leaving. All tasks have been assigned to a member of 
staff to continue work tasks. ICT Strategy Action Plan 

Business Services 
Service Director 

   
  

P
age 78



9 

improve the design & 
development of the Councils 
technology to meet future 
needs & support the 
corporate direction of the 
Council 

has been reviewed and redundant projects will be 
removed from Pentana and the overall Strategy 
reviewed. All remaining actions are on track. 

 
 
 

 17. Efficient use of our financial resources, buildings & assets 
 

  
Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  

Meet the saving target 
identified in Medium Term 
Financial Strategy  

Overall Target = £870,000 Corrective action Please note this is an annual measure. Business Services 
Service Director 

  

  Value Target Status 

2019/
20 

 £870,000  

 

 

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  Accommodation Strategy: 
programme 

 A range of projects to 
improve the design & 
development of the Councils 
buildings & assets to meet 
future needs & support the 
corporate direction of the 
Council 
  

RAG Corrective Action The programme is on track, key achievements in Q1 are 
as follows: 

• Created initial furniture and capacity design for 2nd 

Floor Civic Centre  

• Engaged with Historic England to establish and refresh 

existing relationship and agree next steps  

• Engaged with Bisset Adams – M&E consultant - to 

establish and refresh existing relationship and agree next 
steps  

• Compiled and released tender document for Civic 

Centre Caf&eacute;  

• Reviewed AV options for Council Chamber   

Housing and Property 
Service Director 

  

 
  

 

  

P
age 79



10 

18. Working with commercial partners to add value for our customers 
 

  
Programme Progress Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  Partnership Working 
Programme 

  

RAG Corrective Action Stronger Council to consider the removal of this item as it 
relates to BAU and therefore cannot be measured 
adequately. 

 

   
  

 

 19. Robust local democracy 
 

  
Key Performance Indicator Progress (baseline and target data) Comments Lead Directorate & 

Responsible Officer 

  
Maintain number of eligible 
voters  

Overall Target = 98.6% Corrective Action  Please note this is an annual measure  Customer Services 
Director 

  
  Value Target Status 

2019/20  98.6%  
 

 
  

P
age 80



Report to Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of meeting: 16 July 2019
 

Subject:  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19

Officer contact for further information:  S. Tautz (Ext 4180)

Democratic Services Officer: G. Woodhall (01992) 564470

Recommendations/Decision Required:

That the attached Annual Overview and Scrutiny Report for 2018-19 reporting the work 
undertaken during the past municipal year be agreed and submitted to the Full Council 
at its meeting on 30 July 2019.

Report:

1. Further to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 16 April 2019 when 
they considered the draft of the annual report for 2018/19. The attached annual report has 
been amended in conjunction with the Chairman of each select committee and following 
additional meetings and comments made by the Committee. The Committee is now asked to 
agree the report so it can be referred to the full Council meeting on 30 July 2019.

2. This report is produced in accordance with Article 6, Overview and Scrutiny Rule 37 of 
the Constitution that requires an annual report to be submitted to the Council each year.

3. This is the fourteenth report under the scrutiny regime instituted by the Council in April 
2005, incorporating the four Select Committees and the Task and Finish Panel. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

 

 
  

Page 83



2 | P a g e  
 

 
INTRODUCTION        PAGE 
 
Introduction and Welcome        3 
 
What is Scrutiny         4 
    
COMMITTEES 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee      6 
 
SELECT COMMITTEES 
 
Communities Select Committee       11 
 
Governance Select Committee       15 
 
Resources Select Committee        18 
 
Neighbourhoods Select Committee      22 
 
TASK AND FINISH PANELS 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Framework Task and Finish Panel   26 
  

Page 84



3 | P a g e  
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT:  
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018/2019 
 
Introduction and Welcome from the Chairman 
 
Welcome, this is the fourteenth annual report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for Epping Forest District Council.  
 
The report provides information on the work undertaken by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, the four Select Committees and any time 
limited Task and Finish Panels that have occurred over the past 
municipal year.  
 
This was the fourth year that the Select Committees had been broken down into directorates 
which consisted of Communities, Governance, Resources and Neighbourhoods. As always, 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Select Committees were charged with 
reviewing Cabinet decisions, the Corporate Strategy and the Council’s financial performance. 
 
Following the progression of the People Strategy, the management structure and individual 
portfolio holder’s responsibilities were reorganised. This also gave an opportunity for the 
overview and scrutiny framework to be reconsidered, to reflect this structure. With this in mind, 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee set up a task and finish panel to consider the options 
available. 
 
The task and finish panel considered proposals that would complement the new executive and 
a management structure and concluded that the select commitments could occur in line with 
the Council’s adopted corporate aims; Stronger Council, Stronger Place and Stronger People 
for 2019/20 municipal year.  
 
The Committee also scrutinised the performance of the public bodies that were active in the 
district, by inviting them to present to the committee. During the year we had received 
presentations from outside bodies including Citizen’s Advice – Epping Forest District, 
Manchester Airport Group - Stansted Airport and the South East Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 
My thanks go to the Chairmen and members of the four Select Committees and the Task and 
Finish Panel; also, my special thanks go to my Vice-Chairman, Councillor R Jennings for all 
his help and support through the year.  
 
And of course, I would like to thank all the officers that have worked so hard to keep the 
Committee members informed and supplied with the background information that they needed 
to carry out their investigations. 
 
 
 
Cllr Mary Sartin 
Chairman, Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  

Page 85



4 | P a g e  
 

What is Scrutiny?  
 
Ø Scrutiny in local government is the mechanism by 

which public accountability is exercised.  
Ø The purpose of scrutiny in practice is to achieve 

improvement through examining, questioning and 
evaluating.  

Ø The value of scrutiny is in the use of research and 
questioning techniques to make recommendations 
based on evidence.  

Ø Scrutiny enables issues of public concerns to be examined.  
Ø At the heart of all the work is consideration of what impact the Cabinet’s plans will have 

on the local community.  
Ø However, the overview and scrutiny function is not meant to be confrontational or seen 

as deliberately set up to form an opposition to the Cabinet. Rather the two aspects 
should be regarded as ‘different sides of the same coin’ and should complement each 
other, working in tandem to contribute to the development of the authority.  

 
Alongside its role to challenge, the scrutiny function has also continued to engage positively 
with the Cabinet and continues the cross-party co-operation between members on all panels. 
 
Scrutiny has continued to provide valuable contributions to the Council and the Cabinet 
remained receptive to ideas put forward by Scrutiny throughout the year. 
 
The rules of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee also allow members of the public to have 
the opportunity to address the Committee on any agenda item.  

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Committee uses the Forward Plan of Key Decisions to consider the Cabinets future 
decisions, to draw out any problems or concerns. It also gave the Cabinet a chance to ask 
Overview and Scrutiny to look at any items of work that they thought needed either scrutiny or 
pre-scrutiny. 
 
The Committee also engaged with external bodies to scrutinise parts of their work that 
encroached on the District and its people. They also received stand-alone reports from officers 
and the Select Committees on the work they carried out during the year.  

Select Committees 
 
The terms of reference for each Select Committee were agreed each year by the O&S 
Committee, to establish a rolling programme of ongoing and cyclical issues.  A Lead Officer 
was appointed to each Select Committee to help facilitate the process.  
 
The four Select Committees were; 
 

(i) Communities; 
(ii) Governance; 
(iii) Neighbourhoods; and 
(iv) Resources. 

 
The Select Committees reported regularly to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on their 
progress and work carried out. 
 

Page 86



5 | P a g e  
 

Task and Finish Panels 
 
The Task and Finish Panels are restricted to dealing with activities which are issue based, 
time limited, non-cyclical and with clearly defined objectives on which they would report, once 
completed, to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
One Task and Finish Panel had been established in 2018/19, to review the Overview and 
Scrutiny Select Committee Framework, realigning the Select Committees to the Councils three 
corporate ambitions Stronger Communities, Stronger Place and Stronger Council.  
 

  

Page 87



6 | P a g e  
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee consisted of the following members: 
 
Councillor M. Sartin (Chairman) 
Councillor R. Jennings (Vice Chairman) 
Councillors R. Baldwin, N. Bedford, P. Bolton, L. Burrows, D. Dorrell, S. Heather, J. Lea, A.  
Mitchell, S. Murray, S. Neville, A. Patel, P. Stalker, H Whitbread J.H. Whitehouse and D 
Wixley. 
 
The lead officer was Derek Macnab, Acting Chief Executive. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s main functions were to monitor and scrutinise; 
 

• the work of the executive and its forward plan; 
• external bodies linked to the District Council; and  
• the Council’s financial performance.  

 
It also considered call-ins, policy development, performance monitoring and reviews the 
corporate strategies. 
 
The Committee’s workload over the past year can be broken down as follows: 
 
(a) Scrutinising and monitoring cabinet work 
 
The Committee can have a proactive role in this area through carrying out pre-scrutiny work 
on decisions set out in the Cabinet’s forward plan of Key Decisions, which was considered at 
each meeting. 
 
(b) Call-ins 
 
The Committee had received one call-in this year, about the Cabinet Decision C-024-2018/19, 
Accommodation Strategy which was determined on 10 December 2018.  
 
The matter was considered at an informal meeting which was convened in accordance with 
the procedure for the ‘withdrawal or modification of a call-in’ contained in the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 
At this informal meeting, the lead signatory of the call-in was provided with the reassurances 
that the necessary due diligence would be undertaken at all stages in the process and that the 
decision would only enable the first stages of the Accommodation Strategy to progress. 
Officers would also keep members regularly updated on the various progress and outcomes 
of the strategy. Following the meeting the lead signatory of the call-in confirmed on behalf of 
the call-in signatories that the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee could treat 
the call-in as withdrawn. 
 
(c) Select Committees work programme monitoring 
 
The Committee received regular updates from the Chairmen of the four Select Committees, 
who reported on the progress made on their current work programme. This enabled the 

Page 88



7 | P a g e  
 

Committee to monitor their performance and if necessary adjust their work plans to consider 
any new proposals and urgent items.  
 
(d) Items considered by the committee this year 
 
Over the year, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had received various presentations and 
considered a range of diverse topics. 
 
Presentations included: 
 
(i) The Essex County Council (Passenger Transport) – The Committee had wished to 

undertake external scrutiny of the support provided for local bus 
services operating across the Epping Forest District by Essex 
County Council. The County Council Portfolio Holder for Education, 
Skills and Passenger Transport was unable to attend the meeting 
but responded in writing to the relevant questions put by members 
in the Members Bulletin. 

 
(ii) West Essex and Eastern 
Hertfordshire Digital Innovation 
Zone – (now known as DIZ) The 
Economic Development Officer, 
One Epping Forest Officer and the 
Technology and Support Services 
Portfolio Holder gave a 
presentation on the Digital 
Innovation Zone and investment in 
superfast broadband network 
across the District.  
 
Following the Government’s 
Industrial Strategy for Digital 
Innovation, funding had been 
obtained for superfast broadband 
connection to rural communities 
within the District. The Cabinet’s 
aim had been, to be the best-connected authority in Essex with a total of 99.7% households 
achieved. The Council aimed to collaborate with other authorities and public-sector 
organisations involved in the Digital Innovation Zone, to benefit the Districts residents.   
 
(iii) Citizens Advice (CA) (Epping Forest District) - The CA had been invited to discuss the 

service they provided throughout the District, in person or by 
telephone at their three offices based in Loughton Library, 
Waltham Abbey Town Hall and Hemnall Street, Epping and 
the two additional outreach services at Limes farm, Chigwell 
and Ongar Library. 

 
The provision of free, confidential, independent and impartial advice, prevented residents 
suffering from a lack of knowledge of rights and responsibilities with issues such as benefits, 
debt management, housing, employment, relationships, legal matters and financial services. 
The CA advised that their objectives within Service Level Agreement with EFDC did not 
necessarily match the core work of the CA and that better collaboration could develop a quality 
service together. 
 

Page 89



8 | P a g e  
 

(iv) Manchester Airport Group (MAG) Stansted Airport - The MAG had been invited to 
discuss the local provision of services at Stansted Airport and specific issues raised by 
members.  
 
These included the planned expansion and associated infrastructure requirements; future 

capacity and infrastructure which would arise from the significant 
planned housing developments across Essex; provision of 
employment opportunities for local residents; the handling of 
increased passenger numbers; opportunities for partnership 
working with further education facilities in the District; 
improvements to the existing railway infrastructure serving the 
airport; and associated high costs of taxi services at the airport. 
 

(v) Council’s People Strategy – The Strategic Director, G Blakemore updated members 
on the People Strategy. 
This consisted of five work 
streams which included 
Developing Leadership, 
Developing the 
Organisation, Developing 
Skills & Capacity, 
Resourcing the Council 
and Pay, Grading & 
Benefits. The aim was to 
define clear accountability 
for decision making and 
responsibilities across the 
Council and to provide a common operating model between the customer, business and the 
specialist/technical.  

 
(vi) Youth Council – The Youth Council presented their 
annual report which provided an overview of the events, 
activities, project work and achievements they have been 
involved since their election in 2018.  
 

The Youth Councillors advised that to ensure they were 
considering relevant priorities, they consulted with their 
peers, which revealed that the five top issues of concern 
were; Skills for Work; Mental Health; Bullying; Drug 
Misuse; and Gangs. These issues were used as a starting 
point for their project work.  
 
Furthermore, the Youth Council used social media 
platforms such as Facebook, Twitter and Instagram and 

had been involved in many consultations with external organisations. They had received 
grants and awards of £4830 from external funding and had chosen to support Cardiac Risk in 
the Young (CRY) as their charity.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



9 | P a g e  
 

(vii) South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) – The Chief Executive Officer, A 
Bryan attended the meeting to address the 
Committee on the role of SELEP within the Epping 
Forest District.  
 
THE SELEP brought together businesses, councils, 
universities and other industry influencers to form a 
geographical partnership across East Sussex, 
Essex, Kent, Medway, Southend and Thurrock. 
Based in Chelmsford, SELEP created a vision and strategic direction ensuring that the 
investments represented value for money for the area.  
          
Other Topics Considered:  
 
(i) Select Committees Terms of Reference and Work Programmes – Each year the 
terms of reference and work programmes were agreed for each of the Select Committees 
which consisted of Governance, Resources, Neighbourhoods and Communities.  
   
(ii) Corporate Plan Key Action Plan Progress Reports 2018/19 – These reports 
provided quarterly monitoring on the Council’s key objectives, targets and delivery through 
2018/19. The reports provided members with information on the performance indicators, in 
particular highlighting areas where targets had been missed and/or improvements had been 
made. 

 
(iii) Forward Plan of Key Decisions – The plan was a work programme for the Cabinet 
which included details of decisions, Key Decisions and proposed private decisions. It provided 
an opportunity for the Committee to ask the individual Cabinet members about their future 
programme of work. The most current version of the Plan was included in each agenda for the 
Committee to considered. 
 
(iv) Transformation Programme – Project Dossiers/Project Closures – These reports 
demonstrated how the work of the Council and the corporate plan fitted together at a strategic 
level. It included the following work streams; the Customer Service Programme, the Customer 
Reception, Corporate Customer Team, Systems and Digital Development and Corporate and 
Business Planning.  

 
Following further consideration, it was determined that these reports were not required and 
that the quarterly progress reports provided the required level of information for members. 
 
(v) Overview and Scrutiny Select Committee Framework Review – Following the 
progress on the People Strategy, implementation of the new management structure and 
realignment of the portfolio holder responsibilities, it was considered an appropriate time to 
review the overview and scrutiny framework. A joint meeting was held with the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the Committee and suggestions were put forward to reduce the Select 
Committees to two, which would be supported by the two Strategic Directors. The Committee 
felt that further consultation with members was required and that a task and finish panel should 
consider and determine a way forward. In January and February 2019, a task and finish panel 
met a number times and concluded that the Select Committees should be based around the 
Council’s three Corporate Aims with each committee including the following areas; 
 
Stronger Council   

• customer excellence;  
• partnership working: and  
• behavioural insights;  

Page 91



10 | P a g e  
 

 
Stronger Council  

• accommodation; 
• people; 
• digital enablement; 
• medium-term financial strategy; and 
• Corporate Plan and Key Performance Indicator monitoring; 

 
Stronger Place 

• St. John’s Road redevelopment; 
• North Weald (masterplanning and re-location of council services); 
• Local Plan; 
• growth, skills and employment; and 
• Council housebuilding. 

 
All performance monitoring of the Corporate Plan and Key Performance Indicators would 
now be undertaken by the Stronger Council Select Committee and it had been requested 
relevant pre-scrutiny activity was built in to the development of all key decisions to reduce 
the need for call-in, and to pro-actively utilise the overview and scrutiny framework for policy 
development activity. Furthermore, the select committees would be webcast.  
 
(vi) Review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations – The Electoral 
Registration and Administration Act 2013 introduced changes to the timing of compulsory 
reviews of parliamentary polling districts and polling places.  
 
The Returning Officer had advised that the next review would 
be required between 1 October 2018 and 31 January 2020 and 
this would be beneficial to commence in January 2019, 
between the annual canvass for the register of electors for 
2018 and the commencement of the canvass in 2019. The 
Governance Select Committee had requested that as the 
review was annually and no significant changes were 
expected, that due to time constraints the report would be submitted directly to Council, which 
was agreed. 
  

Page 92



11 | P a g e  
 

SELECT COMMITTEES 
 
1. COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
The Communities Select Committee consisted of the following members: 
 
Councillor H Whitbread (Chairman)  
 
Councillor J Lea (Vice Chairman) 
 
Councillors A Beales, K Chana, S Heap, S Heather, L Hughes, A 
Mitchell, A Patel, C Roberts, D Roberts, D Stocker, D Sunger and J H 
Whitehouse 
 
The Lead Officer was Alan Hall, Director of Communities and P Pledger, 
Service Director Housing & Property Services. The Housing Portfolio 
Holder, Councillor S Stavrou, also attended the meetings, along with Wyn Marshall, from the 
Tenants and Leaseholder Federation and a nominated Youth Councillor. W Marshall attended 
the meetings as a non-voting co-opted member that provided the views of residents and 
stakeholders and a member of the Epping Forest Youth Council also attended as a co-opted 
member, where issues concerned young people. 
 
It was noted that A Hall, Director of Communities retired from the Council in 2018 and the 
Committee wished to thank him for all his support. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
The Communities Select Committee was tasked:  
 
1. To undertake overview and scrutiny, utilising appropriate methods and techniques, 

of the services and functions of the Communities Directorate; 
 

2. To develop a programme of work each year, informed by relevant service aims and 
member priorities, to ensure that the services and functions of the Communities 
Directorate are appropriate and responsive to the needs of residents, service users 
and others; 
 

3. To consider any matter referred to the Select Committee by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the Cabinet or a relevant Portfolio Holder, and to report and make 
recommendations directly to the Committee, the Cabinet or such Portfolio Holder as 
appropriate; 

 
4. To consider the effect of Government actions or initiatives on the services and functions 

of the Communities Directorate and any implications for the Council’s residents, service 
users and others, and to respond to consultation activities as appropriate;  
 

5. To establish working groups as necessary to undertake any activity within these terms 
of reference; 

 
6. To undertake pre-scrutiny through the review of specific proposals of the Council and 

its partner organisations or other local service providers, insofar as they relate to the 
services and functions of the Communities Directorate, to help develop appropriate 
policy; 

 

Page 93



12 | P a g e  
 

7. To undertake performance monitoring in relation to the services and functions of the 
Communities Directorate, against adopted key performance indicators and identified 
areas of concern; 
 

8. To identify any matters within the services and functions of the Communities 
Directorate that require in-depth scrutiny, for referral to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; and 

 
9. To recommend the establishment of task and finish panels to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee as necessary, in order to undertake any activity within these terms 
of reference. 

 
10. To review relevant projects and associated closure and benefits reports arising from 

initiatives undertaken as part of the Council’s Transformation Programme.   
 
The Panel scrutinised a number of important issues over the last year, which included: 
 
(i) Review of Homelessness Strategy – The Committee 
reviewed the Council’s Homeless Strategy which linked with the 
Council’s Housing Strategy, Housing Allocations Scheme and 
Tenancy Policy. It incorporated the needs and demands on the 
service and actions that needed to be undertaken over the next three 
years, including the new duties under the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 which came into force on 3 April 2018. 
 
The Committee considered and commented on the Draft Homelessness strategy that would 
be effective from 1 September 2018 and noted that a consultation exercise would be 
undertaken with relevant Stakeholders and any proposed changes would be considered by 
the Housing Portfolio Holder.  
 
(ii) Housing Service Standards Performance Report 2017/18 and Review – The 
Standards and Housing Service’s performance were considered each year by the Committee 
to determine if any changes to the Service Standards should be recommended to the Housing 
Portfolio Holder. There had been minor amendments and 80% of all measurable and 
measured targets associated with the Service Standard had been achieved.  
 
(iii) Progress Report on the Implementation of the Ageing Population Study Action 
Plan – The Committee noted that in 2015/16 the Council had carried out a comprehensive 
study into the impact of an ageing population in the Epping Forest District. This had been 
generated into over 40 recommendations for the Council and a range of statutory and 

voluntary sector partners.  
 
The study enabled the Council to increase its 
understanding of the future resident population and 
provided the opportunity to consult the existing older 
residents on their expectations and service needed as 
they aged, providing an insight into preferences and 
choices that they would ultimately make, in respect of 
their future lives in the Epping Forest District. 

 
(iv) Housing Strategy Progress Report – This provided the Committee with a progress 
report on the Housing Strategy and the opportunity for the Key Action Plan to be reviewed 
throughout the year. 
 

Page 94



13 | P a g e  
 

(v) Corporate Plan Key Action Plan – This was the overarching document that set out 
the Council’s priorities over the five-year period from 2015/16-2019/20. The Committee 
reviewed the outturn position of the Corporate Plan Key Action Plan in relation to Communities 
Directorate at each meeting. 

 
(vi) Key Performance Indicators Outturn Reports – This 
related to quarterly reports that monitored the performance of 
the Council’s agreed Key Performance Indicators, to ensure 
improvement and where necessary corrective action be taken 
in relation to the Communities Directorate. 
 
(vii) Transformation Programme Project Charters and Dossiers - This related to 
updates on projects from the transformation programme. It provided the basic definition of a 
project, its scope and identified a project manager and sponsor to complete the project.  
 
(viii) Museum, Heritage & Culture LGA Peer Challenge (4.09.18) – The Council’s 

Museum, Heritage & Culture service took part in a fully funded 
competitive LGA Peer Challenge Review, which involved a small 
team of experienced professionals from the museum and cultural 
sector spending time at the Museum. The peer challenges were 
improvement focused and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs, 
complementing and adding value to the Council’s own performance 
and improvement. The Peer Review team reported that they saw 
evidence of an excellent service with demonstrable passion and 
commitment from councillors, staff and volunteers which was clearly 

demonstrated at all levels.  
 
(ix) Social Housing Green Paper – The Committee was 
consulted and asked to provide responses to the green paper 
documents, which proposed a rebalance of the relationship 
between residents and landlords in a new deal for social 
housing. The detailed responses and comments of the 
Committee were set out in the minutes of the meeting on 24 
September 2018. 
 

(x) Use of Receipts from Right to Buy Sales – The Committee 
were consulted and asked to provide responses to the green paper 
documents which set out reforms to the arrangement for the use of 
receipts from Right to Buy Sales. The detailed responses and comments 
of the Committee were set out in the minutes of the meeting on 24 
September 2018.  

 
(xi) Essex Police District Commander – The Committee received a 
presentation on the current policing and crime issues in the District from Chief 
Inspector Lewis Basford, District Commander for Brentwood and Epping Forest 
Community Policing Team.  
 

The Committee asked questions regarding mental 
health problems and the pathways used by the 
Police; the retention and recruitment of police officers; anti-social 
behaviour; the 101 and 999 response times; the current crime 
clear up statistics; and drugs operation. 
 

Page 95



14 | P a g e  
 

(xii) Annual Report of Community Safety Partnership – This outlined the 
accomplishments of the Community Safety Team. In July 2018, 
the District Community Safety Hub opened and saw the 
Council’s Community Safety Team working alongside three 
Council Funded Police officers. The Safety Hub was a first for 
Essex and was being watched closely by other local authorities 
across the UK. They had launched a Twitter account and a two-
weekly newsletter, available to the public and advised more 
timely details of the work carried out by the Community Safety 
Team. 
 
(xiii) Housing Revenue Account 30-year Plan – This report updated the Committee on 
the Housing Revenue Account 30-year Plan and that despite the Government’s policy to 
reduce all social rents by 1% per annum for four years, beginning in 2016/17, the HRA 
continued to be in a reasonably healthy state. All of the current and planned HRA loans were 
able to be repaid within 24 years (or 25 years from April 2018) and the minimum HRA balance 
of £2 million could be maintained throughout the plan period.  
 
(xiv) Update of work of EFDC Funded Police Officers – The Committee was updated on 

the work of these Police officers. The work had been identified through 
the District Community Safety Partnership (CSP) priorities and Annual 
Strategic Assessment, which were aligned to the Police, Fire & Crime 
Commissioner’s (PFCC) Policing Plan. The team were occasionally 
deployed to support EFDC Officers in their work, where formal task 
requests had identified a risk of threat or harm to staff in carrying out 
their lawful functions. Close management of the process had ensured 
that the Council’s police resources had been targeted most effectively 
and efficiently.  

  
(xv) Fire Safety Policy – The Committee considered the Fire Safety Policy for Council-
owned Accommodation, the benefits of installing sprinkler systems into “High-Risk” council 
accommodation and whether the Council should follow the “Stay Put” or “Stay Safe” policy 
following the Hackitt review into the Grenfell Tower fire. The Committee were advised that 
based on the information contained on the Essex Fire and Rescue Service website, it would 
be recommended that the Council adopts the “Stay Put” policy in the event of a fire, but it 
would be up to the individual if they decided to stay or leave the premises. The benefits of 
installing sprinkler systems into “High Risk” accommodation was also considered. 
  

Page 96



15 | P a g e  
 

2. GOVERNANCE SELECT COMMITTEE 

The Governance Select Committee consisted of the following members: 
 
Councillor G Chambers (Chairman)  
 
Councillor D Dorrell (Vice Chairman) 
 
Councillors R Brookes, L Burrows, R Gadsby, L Hughes, S jones, H 
Kauffman, M McEwen, M Sartin, J Share-Bernia, H Whitbread, J M 
Whitehouse and D Wixley 
 
The Lead Officer was Nigel Richardson, Service Director Planning 
Services 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
1. To undertake overview and scrutiny, utilising appropriate methods and 
techniques, of the services and functions of the Governance Directorate; 

 
2. To develop a programme of work each year, informed by relevant service aims and 
member priorities, to ensure that the services and functions of the Governance Directorate 
are appropriate and responsive to the needs of residents, service users and others; 

 
3. To consider any matter referred to the Select Committee by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the Cabinet or a relevant Portfolio Holder, and to report and make 
recommendations directly to the Committee, the Cabinet or such Portfolio Holder as 
appropriate; 
 
4. To consider the effect of Government actions or initiatives on the services and 
functions of the Governance Directorate and any implications for the Council’s residents, 
service users and others, and to respond to consultation activities as appropriate;  
 
5. To establish working groups as necessary to undertake any activity within these terms 
of reference; 
 
6. To undertake pre-scrutiny through the review of specific proposals of the Council and 
its partner organisations or other local service providers, insofar as they relate to the services 
and functions of the Governance Directorate, to help develop appropriate policy; 
 
7. To undertake performance monitoring in relation to the services and functions of the 
Governance Directorate, against adopted key performance indicators and identified areas of 
concern; 
 
8. To identify any matters within the services and functions of the Governance 
Directorate that require in-depth scrutiny, for referral to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; 
 
9. To recommend the establishment of task and finish panels to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee as necessary, in order to undertake any activity within these terms of 
reference; and 
 
10. To review relevant projects and associated closure and benefits reports arising from 
initiatives undertaken as part of the Council’s Transformation Programme. 
 

Page 97



16 | P a g e  
 

 
The Panel scrutinised a number of issues over the last year, which included: 
 
(xvi) Transformation Programme Project Charters and Dossiers - This related to 
updates on projects from the transformation programme. It provided the basic definition of a 
project, its scope and identified a project manager and sponsor to complete the project.  
 
(xvii) Key Performance Indicators outturn reports – This related to quarterly reports that 
monitored the performance of the Council’s agreed Key Performance Indicators to ensure 
improvement and where necessary corrective action was taken.  

 
(xviii) Corporate Plan Key Action Plan 2017/18 – This was the overarching document that 
set out the council’s priorities over the five-year period from 2015/16-2019/20. The select 
Committee review the outturn position of the Corporate Plan Key Action Plan in relation to 
Governance. 

 
(xix) Review of Local Elections 2018 & Associated Matters – This provided information 
on the planning process and implementation of the elections held on 3 May 2018. The matter 
was required by law and the Approval of Areas and Polling Places was matter reserved by 
Council. The review highlighted the publicity, pre-election period, postal voting, staffing, polling 
stations, verification and count; and post-election consultation. A review of Polling Places and 
Stations during 2019 required a compulsory review which had occurred in January 2019.  
 
The Boundary Commission for England – 2018 Review had revised proposals for the Eastern 
Region and had submitted the final recommendations on revised Parliamentary constituencies 
to the Government. There had been no changes recommended to the Epping Forest 
constituency boundaries but changes reflected in a second consultation to the Harlow and 
Brentwood and Ongar constituencies had been formally made.  
 
(xx) Petition Scheme – The Committee considered and agreed the Council’s petition 
scheme with other local authority comparative data, in particular in relation to threshold 
requirements; clear and concise guidance; and the incorporation of e-petitions. 
 
(xxi) Equality Objectives 2018-22 – The Committee reviewed the progress on the four 
equality objectives, in order for the Council to achieve the aims of the Public-Sector Equality 
Duty set out by the Equality Act 2010. Three of the four objectives had been completely met, 
although the status for ‘Produce and promote a process for accessing translation services’ 
and ‘Elected Members’ were ‘under control’ and would require further training for equality and 
diversity issues and further support for scrutinising equality impact assessments for major 
decisions. 

 
(xxii) Equality Information Report 2018 – This report provided the Committee with the 
annual equality information that demonstrated compliance with the Equality Act 2010. It 
considered the progress made over the last year to improve the Council’s services and 
employment practices for people with protected characteristics, and its draft Equality 
Information Report for 2018. 
 
(xxiii) Development Management - The Committee considered the notes of the meeting of 
the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Area Plans Sub-Committees and the District 
Development Management Committee. It highlighted members concerns for the consideration 
of planning applications by the Area Plans Sub-Committees, in circumstances where such 
applications were referred to a Sub-Committee for determination solely because of an 
objection to the development proposal by the relevant local council and their intention to speak 
at the Area Plans Sub-Committee meeting. The Committee considered whether this was an 

Page 98



17 | P a g e  
 

appropriate use of members time at these meetings if the application could have been 
determined by the Service Director (Planning Services).  
 
Review of the Local Enforcement Plan (LEP) – The Committee were advised that the LEP 
was scheduled for a review and the Town and Parish Councils had also been consulted. The 
report advised that there had been no significant change to planning legislation in respect of 
enforcement and that the LEP made clear what breaches were and how they were prioritised. 
  

Page 99



18 | P a g e  
 

3. RESOURCES SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
The Resources Select Committee consisted of the following Members: 
 
Councillor A. Patel (Chairman)  
 
Councillor P. Stalker (Vice Chairman) 
 
Councillors N Bedford, L. Burrows, K Chana, D Dorrell, I. Hadley, J. 
Jennings, J. Lea, A. Mitchell, M. Owen, C. P. Pond, B Vaz and J.H. 
Whitehouse 
 
The Lead Officer was Peter Maddock, Assistant Director Accountancy. 
 
Terms of Reference  
 
General 
 
1. To undertake overview and scrutiny, utilising appropriate methods and techniques, of 
services and functions of the Resources Directorate; 
 
2. To consider any matter referred to the Select Committee by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; 
 
3. To undertake quarterly performance monitoring in relation to the services and functions 
of the Resources Directorate, though review of progress against adopted key performance 
indicators and other appropriate measures; 
 
4. To identify any matters within the services and functions of the Resources Directorate 
requiring in-depth scrutiny, for referral to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
 
5. To establish working groups as necessary to undertake any activity within these terms 
of reference; 
 
6. To respond to applicable consultations as appropriate; 
 
Finance 
 
7. To consider the draft directorate budgets for each year, and to evaluate and rank 
proposals for enhancing or reducing services where necessary, whilst ensuring consistency 
between policy objectives and financial demands; 
 
8. To review key areas of income and expenditure for each directorate on a quarterly 
basis throughout the year; 
 
Information and Communications Technology 
 
9. To monitor and review progress on the implementation of all major ICT systems; 
 
Value for Money 
 
10. To consider the Council’s comparative value for money ‘performance’, and to 
recommend as required to the Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee, 
in respect of areas where further detailed investigation may be required;  
 

Page 100



19 | P a g e  
 

Human Resources 
 
11. To monitor and review areas of concern or significance that comes under Human 
Resources. 
 
Transformation Programme 
 
12. Transformation Projects relevant to this Committee: 
 
Details of relevant new transformation projects to be submitted to the relevant SC for scrutiny. 
 
13. Transformation Projects closure and benefits reports: 
 
That any Directorate appropriate project closure and benefits realisation reports to be 
submitted to this SC for information. 
 
The Panel considered and scrutinised a number of important issues over the last year, 
which included: 
 
(i) Provisional Capital outturn 2017/18 – The Committee considered the Council’s 
capital programme for 2017/18, in terms of expenditure and financing, and compared the 
provisional outturn figures with the revised estimates. 
 
(ii) Provisional Revenue outturn 2017/18 – The Committee considered the revenue 
outturn for the financial year 2017/18.  
 
(i) Corporate Plan Key Action Plan 2017/18– This was the overarching document that 
set out the Council’s priorities over the five-year period from 2015/16-2019/20. The select 
Committee reviewed the outturn position of the Corporate Plan Key Action Plan in relation to 
Resources. 
 
(iii) Key Performance Indicators Outturn Reports – This related to quarterly reports that 
monitored the performance of the Council’s agreed Key Performance Indicators to ensure 
improvement and where necessary corrective action be taken by the Council. 

 
(iv) Business Rates and Funding Services – The Committee received a report 
explaining the background to the Council’s business rates collections and how it translated 
into the funding of local services. The Council had a statutory duty to collect Business Rates 
although the final retained income for the Council was only around 10% of the collections. For 
2017/18 the actual retained income had increased to £3.7m. It was reported that the 
Government was expected to issue a series of consultation papers in the coming months, 
ahead of local rates retention moving from 50% to 75%.  
 
(v) Sickness absences monitoring - The report monitored 
the sickness absences quarterly and included absence figures 
by Directorate; the number of employees who had met the trigger 
level; those who had more than 4 weeks absence; and the 
reasons for absence. The Council was 0.72 days over its target 
of 7.25 during 2017/2018.  

 
(xxiv) Transformation Programme Project Charters and Dossiers - This related to 
updates on projects from the transformation programme. It provided the basic definition of a 
project, its scope and identified a project manager and sponsor to complete the project.  
 

Page 101



20 | P a g e  
 

(vi) Financial Issues Paper 2019/20 -  This report provided the Committee with the 
framework for the Budget 2019/20 and updated Members on a number of financial issues that 
would affect the authority in the short to medium term and included the updated medium term 
financial strategy. 

 
(vii) Technology Strategy Update – The Committee were 
advised that the new corporate project management system 
PENTANA had enabled the monitoring of the entire 
transformation process and created a central point of reference 
for the ICT work programme. The Committee were asked to 
comment and feedback on the format of the reports produced. 
 

(viii) Fees and charges 2019/20 – The Committee 
considered the annual report on the fees and charges, which the 
Council levied and what scope there was, if any to increase 
particular charges, including their views of the suggested level of 
fees and charges for 2019/20. 
 
(ix) Transformation Programme Project Charters and Dossiers – This related to 
updates on projects from the transformation programme. It provided the basic definition of a 
project and its scope with a project manager and sponsor to complete the project.  
 
(x) Quarterly Financial Monitoring –These reports provided the Committee with a 
comparison between the original estimate for a three-month period and the actual expenditure 
or income. The reports covered the key areas of income and expenditure and had been 
aligned to the new service directorates responsible for delivering the services to which the 
budgets related and the budgets themselves were the original estimate. 
 
(xi) Update General Fund Continuing Services Budget (CSB), District Development 
Fund (DDF) and Invest to Save (ITS) - The report updated the Committee on the draft 
Continuing Services Budget (CSB), District Development Fund (DDF) and Invest to Save (ITS) 
Schedules for 2019/20. 
 
(xii) Shared Service Working – The 
Committee were advised that the Council 
had shared services in HR with Braintree 
District and Colchester Borough councils 
and the joint purchase of the iTrent system would result in a shared payroll 
system, which was due to commence from 1 June 2019.  

 
(xiii) Fair Funding Review/ Business Rate Retention 
Consultations – The Committee were taken through two 
consultations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) regarding the Fair Funding Review and 
Business Rates Retention. The Fair Funding review advised what 
the Government thought the Council needed to spend and the 
Business Rates Retention related to how the Council could raise the 
money, and how these transitional arrangements for the new funding 
regime would work.  

 
(xiv) People Strategy – The Committee considered the Programme Definition Documents 
(PDD) for the People Strategy which included People Strategy Programme Definition; 
Common Operating Model; Pay and Benefits Review; Leadership & Management 
Development; Developing Skills Capacity; and Recruitment.   

Page 102



21 | P a g e  
 

 
(xv)  Agency Staff and Consultancy Costs – The 
Committee considered the costs of Consultants and 
Agency staff from 2017 up until February 2019. 
Expenditure had increased from £1.5 m in 2015/16 to 
nearly £3m in 2017/18 and would be similar in 2018/19, 
with the Local Plan and Estates division largely 
contributing to this amount although this had been down 
to a national shortage of officers. 
  

Page 103



22 | P a g e  
 

NEIGHBOURHOODS SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 
The Neighbourhoods Select Committee consisted of the following members: 
 
Councillor N Bedford (Chairman)  
 
Councillor H Brady (Vice Chairman) 
 
Councillors A Beales, P Bolton, R Brookes, K Chana, I Hadley, S 
Heather, L Hughes, L Mead, S Neville, A Patel, M Sartin, D Stocker and 
J H Whitehouse. 
 
The Lead Officer was Derek Macnab, Acting Chief Executive. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
General 
 
1. To undertake overview and scrutiny, utilising appropriate methods and techniques, of 
services and functions of the Neighbourhood Directorate; 
 
2. To consider any matter referred to the Select Committee by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; 
 
3. To keep under review: 
 
(a) environmental enforcement activities; 
(b) waste management activities; 
(c) leisure Management; and 
(d) the development of the Local Plan; 
 
4. To consider the effect of Government actions or initiatives on the services and 
functions of the Neighbourhoods Directorate and any implications for the Council’s residents, 
service users and others, and to respond to consultation activities as appropriate;  
 
5. To establish working groups as necessary to undertake any activity within these terms 
of reference; 
 
6. To undertake pre-scrutiny through the review of specific proposals of the Council and 
its partner organisations or other local service providers, insofar as they relate to the services 
and functions of the Governance Directorate, to help develop appropriate policy; 
 
7. To identify any matters within the services and functions of the Governance Directorate 
that require in-depth scrutiny, for referral to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
 
8. To recommend the establishment of task and finish panels to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee as necessary, in order to undertake any activity within these terms of 
reference;  
 
Performance Monitoring 
 
9. To undertake performance monitoring in relation to the services and functions of the 
Neighbourhoods Directorate, against adopted Key Performance Indicators and identified 
areas of concern; 

Page 104



23 | P a g e  
 

 
Environment 
 
10. To monitor and keep under review the Council’s progress towards the development 
and adoption of a corporate energy strategy/environmental policy and to receive progress 
reports from the Green Working Party; 
 
11. To receive reports from the Waste Management Partnership Board in respect of the 
operation of and performance of the waste management contract; 
 
Leisure 
 
12. To monitor and keep under review leisure management matters and in particular the 
procurement of the Leisure Management Contract; and 
 
Transformation Programme 
 
13. To review relevant projects and associated closure and benefits reports arising from 
initiatives undertaken as part of the Council’s Transformation Programme. 
 
The Panel scrutinised a number of important issues over the last year, which included: 
 
(i) Key Performance Indicators Outturn Reports – These related to quarterly reports 
which monitored the performance of the Council’s agreed Key Performance Indicators. They 
ensured improvement and where necessary corrective action to be put into place within the 
Neighbourhoods Directorate. 
 
(ii) The Corporate Plan, Key Action Plan for 2017/18 – This set out the Council’s 
priorities for a five-year period from 2015/16-2019/20. The Select Committee received 
quarterly reports on the progress in relation to the individual actions and deliverables in 
neighbourhoods. There were 10 actions which fell within the areas of responsibility for the 
Neighbourhoods Select Committees.  6 had been ‘achieved or on target’; 2 were ‘under 
control’ and 2 were ‘behind schedule’. 
 
1. Transformation Programme Project Charters and Dossiers - This related to 
updates on projects from the transformation programme. It provided the basic definition of a 
project, its scope and identified a project manager and sponsor to complete the project.  

 
(iii) Air Quality and Public Health – The Committee 
received a presentation regarding the Neighbourhoods 
Services that the Council provided. This incorporated Public 
Health, Licensing, Neighbourhoods, Leisure Management, 
North Weald Airfield, Emergency Planning, Corporate Health 
and Safety, Environmental Pollution and issues around air 
quality.  
 

(iv) Local Plans Updates – The Committee received 
updates from the Planning Portfolio Holder on the progress of 
the Local Plan, regarding the work being undertaken to support 
the progression and implementation of the Local Plan and 
Neighbourhood Planning in the district. 
 

Page 105



24 | P a g e  
 

(v) Harlow Council – Local Plan Regulation 19 Pre-Submission 
Publication – Harlow District Council had published the Harlow Local 
Development Plan on Thursday 24 May 2018. A six-week period for 
representations had been requested, prior to submission of the Plan for 
examination. The Committee were advised that matters on the Pre-
Submission Local Development Plan based on key cross-boundary issues 
that had been identified. It was recommended that EFDC respond to the 
publication period welcoming the pre-submission Plan, while providing 
comments and/or recommendations on key policies and reserving the 
Council’s right to appear at Independent Examination. 
 
(vi) Corporate Green Working Party (CGWP) and Environmental Charter – These 
reports focused on the Council’s internal functions of environmental matters. The Committee 
were advised that the role of environmental co-ordinator would be embedded into the work of 
all directorates going forward, to provide a more holistic approach across the Council to 
address these important issues. The Environmental Charter action plan continued to be 
reviewed by the CGWP.  
 
(vii) Annual Report for Off Street Parking 2017/18 – This report 
provided the Committee with the first annual update on the progress of 
NSL Ltd, for the enforcement of the eighteen off street car parks owned 
by the Council. There had been an increase in parking enforcement 
because of staff working a shift basis to facilitate seven-day coverage 
and create good enforcement across the District. Improvements to the 
car parks such as surfacing; increased cleanliness; and new ticketing 
machines enabling chip and pin payments, had been installed in the 
Council’s car parks. This was to the benefit of shoppers and commuters 
using them. 
 
(viii) Emergency Planning and Corporate Health and Safety Arrangements -The 
Committee were updated on the emergency planning and business continuity of the Council. 
 
In addition, the corporate health and safety was also being reviewed. This included lone 
working, accident report forms, the introduction of expectant mothers/nursing mothers risk 
assessment and the creation of a staff health and wellbeing strategy. 
 
(ix) Leisure Contract Update - The Committee was updated on the leisure contract with 

Places for People (Leisure) (PfP). This included the 
completion of the new Leisure Centre at Waltham 
Abbey, investments and improvements at Epping, 
Ongar and Loughton Leisure Centres and the 
increase in overall membership across the District. 
The Committee was also informed about the 
feasibility for a new leisure centre in Epping on the St 
John’s Site. 

 
(x) Bobbingworth Nature Reserve – The Committee received the notes from the 
Bobbingworth Nature Reserve (Former Landfill site) Local Liaison Group, updating the 
Committee on the operation and maintenance of the site. 
 
(xi) Environment & Neighbourhoods Enforcement Activity 2018 - The Committee was 
updated on the enforcement activity carried out by the Council’s Environment & 
Neighbourhoods team in 2018, which included fly-tipping issues, noise complaints, other 
neighbour issues, unauthorised encampments and Taxi/Licensing enforcement. The figures 
compared to 2017 were virtually the same with slight increases in fly-tipping and noise issues. 

Page 106



25 | P a g e  
 

  
(xii) Resource and National Waste Strategy – 
Consultation – The Government had published a new waste 
strategy – Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England 
which sought to preserve material resources by minimising 
waste and promoting resource efficiently and linked to the 
Government’s Environment Plan. There was a clear strategy to 
encourage producers to take responsibility and drive the reuse 
and recycling to ultimately eliminate all avoidable waste within 
30 years. The consultations focused on four areas with 
included; 

 
1. Reforming the UK Packaging Producer Responsibility System; 
2. Consistency on Household and Business Recycling Collections in England; 
3. Introduction of a deposit return scheme (DRS) in England, Wales and Northern Ireland; 

and 
4. A plastics tax on non-recycled content packaging. 

  

Page 107



26 | P a g e  
 

TASK AND FINISH PANELS 
 
Origin/background: 
 
On the 29 October 2018, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a proposal for the 
establishment of a new overview and scrutiny framework that would complement the new 
executive and senior management structure.  
 
It was proposed that the structure would be based on two cross-service select committees 
and would be supported by the Strategic Directors.  
 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee determined that all members should be 
consulted and that a Task and Finish Panel be set up to consider the options available for a 
suitable framework.  
 
Aims and Objectives: 
 
(a)To determine a select committee framework, having regard to the terms of reference for 
the review that had been agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in October 2018. 
 
(b) To submit recommendations the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 16 April 2019, 
in order for the select committees to commence in the 2019/20 municipal year. 
 
Term of Reference: 
 
(a) That the Panel consider the future structure of the select committee framework to 
ensure that it complements the new executive portfolio and management structure of the 
Council, taking into consideration the options presented to the Committee at its meeting held 
on 29 October 2018; 
 
(b) That the Panel consider: 
 

(i) the retention of the existing framework of four select committees; 
 
(ii) the introduction of an alternative framework of four select committees aligned 
with the new portfolio and service structure and the responsibilities of each select 
committee, to present opportunities for increased efficiency and effectiveness in 
scrutiny activity; 

 
(iii) the introduction of an alternative framework of two or three select committees 
aligned with the new portfolio and service structure. and the responsibilities of each 
select committee, to present opportunities for increased efficiency and effectiveness in 
scrutiny activity; and 
 
(iv)  any other structure arrangement considered appropriate. 

 
(c) That the Panel consider arrangements to ensure that reports in respect of the Council’s 
adopted key performance indicators are made to the select committees as soon after the end 
of the relevant quarter as possible, and how best such reports can be presented to assist 
members in scrutinising performance against appropriate targets and the financial and 
resource implications for the authority; and 
 
(d) That the Panel review the terms of reference of the existing select committees in terms 
of relevance and consider whether these could be improved. 
 

Page 108



27 | P a g e  
 

The Panel 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee appointed Councillor P Bolton as the Chairman and 
Councillor B Jennings as the Vice-Chairman and requested that a notice for other members 
be placed in the Council Bulletin. 
 
The following members expressed an interest; Councillors N Bedford, H Brady, G Chambers, 
D Dorrell, A Patel, M Sartin, H Whitbread and J H Whitehouse 
 
The Lead Officer was Georgina Blakemore, Strategic Director. 
 
The Panel met three times in January and February 2019 before reporting to the main 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 16 April 2019. 
 
At their first meeting on 21 January 2019, the Panel considered the report that set out scope 
and timescale for the review of the overview and scrutiny select committee framework. 
 
It was suggested that the Council’s new cross-working approach and project and programme 
management environment based on the three Corporate Plan themes of ‘Stronger Council’, 
‘Stronger Place’ and ‘Stronger Community’ could be adapted to provide a new form of select 
committee framework focusing on the authority’s key priorities and outcomes.  
 
Other issues raised by members were the effectiveness of performance monitoring and the 
consideration for consolidate this to one select committee, to enable the scrutiny and 
relevance of information and performance to occur as soon as possible after the end of the 
relevant quarter.  
 
On 31 January 2019, the Panel gave further consideration to the future structure of the select 
committee framework, associated programme and project environment driving the Council’s 
aims for increased customer service, efficiency and effectiveness and how they fitted into the 
three corporate aims. There was also the opportunity to provide policy development capacity 
through enhanced pre-scrutiny role.   
 
The final meeting on 27 February 2019, considered the work programme for each of the 
select committees and the format that the Key Performance Indicators would be presented 
to members. 
  
Outcome 
 
Finally, the Panel made the following recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at their meeting on 16 April 2019 meeting. 
 
(1) That a new overview and scrutiny select committee framework, based on a structure of 

three select committees, be established with effect from the commencement of the 
2019/20 municipal year; 
 

(2) That the titles and responsibilities of each select committee, based on the themes of the 
Corporate Plan for 2018-2023, be agreed as follows: 

Page 109



28 | P a g e  
 

 
(a) Stronger Communities Select Committee 

 
• customer excellence; 
• partnership working; 
• behavioural insights;  
 

(b) Stronger Council Select Committee 
 
• accommodation; 
• people; 
• digital enablement; 
• medium-term financial strategy; 
• Corporate Plan and Key Performance Indicator monitoring; 
 

(c) Stronger Place Select Committee 
 

• St. John’s Road redevelopment; 
• North Weald (masterplanning and re-location of council services); 
• local plan; 
• growth, skills and employment; and 
• Council housebuilding. 

 
(3) That the consideration of quarterly performance monitoring information in respect of the 

Corporate Plan and the Council’s adopted suite of Key Performance Indicators be 
undertaken by the proposed Stronger Council Select Committee, subject to the 
implementation of the exception-based reporting arrangements set out in this report; 
 

(4) That the draft terms of reference for each of the new select committees for 2019/20 be 
agreed; 
 

(5) That the draft work programme for each of the new select committees for 2019/20 be 
agreed; 

Page 110



29 | P a g e  
 

 
(6) That focused and achievable work programmes be developed for each new select 

committee for each year, drawing on Portfolio Holder and service delivery aims and 
objectives, and relevant community priorities; 
 

(7) That the scrutiny of business as usual activities be allocated to the ongoing work 
programme of each new select committee on the basis of the respective programme 
and project environment within the Corporate Plan for 2018-2023; 
 

(8) That the Cabinet be requested to ensure that relevant pre-scrutiny activity is built in to 
the development of all key decisions to reduce the need for call-in, and to pro-actively 
utilise the overview and scrutiny framework for policy development activity wherever 
appropriate; 
 

(9) That arrangements for meetings of the new select committees to be held on a quarterly 
basis during 2019/20, be agreed as set out in this report; 
 

(10) That the Service Director (Customer Services) arrange for the routine webcasting of 
meetings of the new select committees; 
 

(11) That the Constitution Working Group be asked to review the current application of 
requirements for members to make reports to ordinary meetings of the Council with 
regard to the business of external organisations subject of member representation;  
 

(12) That the operation of the proposed new select committee framework be reviewed after 
twelve months operation; and 
 

(13) That, subject to the agreement of the above recommendations, the Chairman formally 
advise the Council of the arrangements for the new select committee framework at its 
meeting on 25 April 2019, in view of the likely wider member interest in the establishment 
of the new framework. 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of meeting: 16 July 2019
 

Subject: Scrutiny of External Organisation - Epping Forest College

Officer contact for further information: S. Tautz (01992) 564180

Democratic Services Officer: G. Woodhall (01992) 564470

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

(1) That the Committee note the decision of the Joint Principal of the Epping 
Forest and Redbridge Campuses of New City College, that New City College 
not engage with the Council’s proposed approach to external scrutiny of 
the ongoing improvement of further education services at the Epping 
Forest College Campus;

(2) That, in light of recommendation (1) above, the proposed external scrutiny 
of Epping Forest College be removed from the work programme for the 
Committee for 2019/20; and

(3) That the Service Director (Community and Partnerships) make appropriate 
arrangements with the Joint Principal of the Epping Forest and Redbridge 
Campuses of New City College, for members to be advised of the progress 
of improvements at Epping Forest College by way of a member briefing or 
visit to the College.

1. Members will recall that the former Principal of Epping Forest College attended the 
meeting of the Committee held on 27 February 2018, to report on the detailed plans for 
improvement of the College arising from a report of Ofsted (November 2016) on its 
‘inadequate’ judgement of the quality of service provision at the College, particularly in 
terms of the implications of the findings of Ofsted for the further education requirements 
of residents of the Epping Forest District. The minutes of the meeting of the Committee 
held on 27 February 2018 are available at:

https://rds.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/documents/g9151/Printed%20minutes%2027th-Feb-
2018%2019.30%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1

2. In August 2018, Epping Forest College merged with New City College. As part of its 
work programme for 2019/20, the Committee has previously agreed that the new 
Principal of Epping Forest College be invited to attend a future meeting to report to the 
Committee in connection with the progress of the implementation of relevant 
improvement plans by New City College and to respond to the concerns of members 
with regard to curriculum matters and the future intentions of New City College with 
regard to its landholdings within the Epping Forest District.

3. On behalf of the Chairman of the Committee, an invitation was recently extended to 
Janet Smith, the joint Principal of the Epping Forest and Redbridge Campuses of New 
City College, to attend the meeting of the Committee to be held on 3 September 2019.

Page 113

Agenda Item 14

https://rds.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/documents/g9151/Printed%20minutes%2027th-Feb-2018%2019.30%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://rds.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/documents/g9151/Printed%20minutes%2027th-Feb-2018%2019.30%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1


4. In response, Ms. Smith has indicated that she does not consider it to be appropriate for 
New City College to report to the Council in this way, as the College is an incorporated 
organisation, answerable to its own governing body. Ms. Smith has advised that, as the 
College is open and transparent in its dealings with the public, but is not accountable to 
the Council, she will therefore not be attending the meeting of the Committee as she 
feels that it is an inappropriate vehicle for the College’s communications with the 
Council.

5. However, Ms. Smith has further advised that, as the College has a very positive story to 
tell about its improvement since the recent merger, she would be happy to meet with 
members on an informal basis to discuss this, either at the Civic Offices or by way of 
invitation to visit the College to see the improvements in action. Ms. Smith has 
confirmed that she will keep members informed regarding the development of the new 
wellbeing and leisure centre at the College and hopes that the Council and New City 
College can work together productively for the benefit of the local community.

6. In the circumstances, it is recommended that the external scrutiny of Epping Forest 
College be removed from the work programme for the Committee for 2019/20 and that 
the Service Director (Community and Partnerships) be requested to make appropriate 
arrangements with the joint Principal of the Epping Forest and Redbridge Campuses of 
New City College, for members to be advised of the progress of improvements at 
Epping Forest College by way of a member briefing or visit to the College.

Resource Implications:

The recommendations of this report seek to enable scrutiny activity to more effectively meet 
work programme requirements. 

Legal and Governance Implications:

The Council’s constitution sets out rules for the management of its overview and scrutiny 
responsibilities. Although external organisations are not generally required by legislation to 
attend before the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it is hoped that most would be willing to 
engage constructively with the Council’s scrutiny activity when invited to do so.

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Implications:

There are no implications arising from the recommendations of this report in respect of the 
Council’s commitment to the Climate Local Agreement, the corporate Safer, Cleaner, 
Greener initiative, or any crime and disorder issues within the district. 

Consultation Undertaken:

This report seeks the identification of overarching themes and specific issues to be subject of 
the external scrutiny of New City College.

Background Papers: 

None

Impact Assessments:

Risk Management

The Council’s constitution sets out rules for the management of its overview and scrutiny 
responsibilities.

Equality:
Page 114



There are no equality implications arising from the recommendations of this report. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



S. Tautz (5.6.19)

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2019/20

Chairman: Councillor M. Sartin

ITEM REPORT 
DEADLINE/PRIORITY PROGRESS/COMMENTS FUTURE 

MEETINGS

(1) Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2019/20

4 June 2019 (first meeting of 
each municipal year)

COMPLETED Work programmes for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and each of the select 
committees for 2019/20 agreed on 4 June 2019;
 

(2) Corporate Priorities 2019/20 4 June 2019 (first meeting of 
each municipal year)

COMPLETED Leader of the Council presented the 
Council’s corporate priorities for 2019/20 to the 
Committee at its meeting on 4 June 2019;

(3) Key Decisions 2019/20 Ongoing To review the Executive’s programme of Key 
Decisions for each period during the municipal year;

(4) Customer Services 17 March 2020 (Annual 
Report)

Service Director (Customer Services) to report on 
customer service initiatives and performance, 
including compliments and complaints and call-
handling; 

4 June 2019;
16 July 2019;
3 September 2019;
19 November 2019;
28 January 2020; 
17 March 2020.P

age 117

A
genda Item

 15



S. Tautz (5.6.19)

(5) Epping Forest College 
(Scrutiny of External 
Organisation)

Carried forward from work 
programme for 2017/18 and 
2018/19.

TO BE DELETED FROM WORK PROGRAMME
To review the implications for the district arising from 
the merger of Epping Forest College with New City 
College. Appropriate lines of questioning and 
scope/focus of scrutiny activity (related to curriculum 
and landholdings) to be agreed;
At its meeting on 21 February 2019, the Council 
considered the appointment of a member 
representative to the Board of Governors of New City 
College and the local advisory body for the Epping 
Forest Campus College;
Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and appropriate lines 
of questioning to be agreed;

(6) Essex Partnership University 
NHS Foundation Trust 
(Scrutiny of External 
Organisation)

To be arranged. Carried 
forward from reserve work 
programme for 2017/18 and 
2018/19.

To review the provision of local mental health 
services. Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and 
appropriate lines of questioning to be agreed;

Briefing to be provided to frontline staff on 16 July 
2019 by Essex Partnership University NHS 
Foundation Trust. All members invited to attend 
briefing. Possibility of further session for members to 
be investigated.

(7) Local High Streets - Viability 
and Regeneration

To be arranged. Carried 
forward from reserve work 
programme for 2018/19.

Service Director (Community and Partnerships) to 
consider appropriate opportunities for scrutiny 
activity

Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and appropriate lines 
of questioning to be agreed;

P
age 118



S. Tautz (5.6.19)

(8) Adult Social Care (Scrutiny of 
External Organisation)

To be arranged. Carried 
forward from reserve work 
programme for 2018/19.

Approach to be made to Essex County Council’s 
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care to 
attend future meeting.

Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and appropriate lines 
of questioning to be agreed;

(9) Epping Forest Sixth-Form 
Consortium (Scrutiny of 
External Organisations)

To be arranged. Carried 
forward from reserve work 
programme for 2017/18 and 
2018/19.

(PICK submission) To review the progress of the 
Sixth Form Consortium established in September 
2015. Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and 
appropriate lines of questioning to be agreed if/when 
added to ongoing work programme;

P
age 119



S. Tautz (5.6.19)

RESERVE PROGRAMME ITEMS

ITEM REPORT 
DEADLINE/PRIORITY PROGRESS/COMMENTS FUTURE 

MEETINGS

(1) Essex County Council 
(Children’s Services) 
(Scrutiny of External 
Organisation)

Carried forward from reserve 
work programme for 
2017/18 and 2018/19.

Recommendation arising from Children’s Services 
Task and Finish Panel requires the Committee to 
meet with Essex County Council in respect of 
children’s services on an annual basis. The Director 
of Children’s Commissioning attended the meeting in 
April 2016. To be considered further at a later date. 
Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and appropriate lines 
of questioning to be agreed if/when added to ongoing 
work programme;

(2) Essex Police/Essex Fire & 
Rescue Service - Joint 
Governance (Scrutiny of 
External Organisation) 

Carried forward from reserve 
work programme for 
2017/18 and 2018/19.

To review local operation of joint governance 
arrangements for Essex Police and Essex Fire & 
Rescue Service. Scope/focus of scrutiny activity and 
appropriate lines of questioning to be agreed if/when 
added to ongoing work programme;

4 June 2019;
16 July 2019;
3 September 2019;
19 November 2019;
28 January 2020; 
17 March 2020.P

age 120



R Pavey (June 2019)

Stronger Communities Select Committee 
Work Programme 2019/20

Chairman: Councillor Y Knight
No. Item Deadline Progress and Comments Programme of Meetings

1. “What are our customers 
telling us?”

Quarterly report of customer 
satisfaction and feedback 

02 July 2019 – completed

2. Digital Inclusion July report on project progress 
and future strategy
October strategy update
January strategy update
April strategy update

02 July 2019 – completed

3. Universal Credit and its 
impact on our customers 
and services

July - Initial findings and 
recommended actions from the 
officer working group
January – further findings, 
review of previous 
recommended actions and 
further recommendations.

02 July 2019 – completed

4. Customer Service Strategy Presentation to October 
meeting and quarterly update 
on key objectives thereafter

5. Data insight led review of 
customer service outlets

Report to January meeting with 
options and recommendations 
for short, medium and long-
term options

6. Service reviews as a result 
of performance concerns

TBD

7. Six-month report on the 
work of the Council-funded 
Police Officers

Report at July meeting 02 July 2019 – completed

02 July 2019
01 October 2019
21 January 2020
21 April 2020

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 16



R Pavey (June 2019)

8. Annual Review of work 
undertaken to address 
needs of the ageing 
population

Report at July meeting 02 July 2019 – completed

9. Item to discuss questions 
for Police Commander at 
October meeting

Preparation for October 
meeting

10. Community Safety 
Partnership annual report 
and review of the district 
Strategic Intelligence 
Assessment 

Annual Reporting (October)

11. District Police Commander 
– Police Priorities and Q&A

Annual presentation (October) 

12. New Cultural Strategy 
Presentation

October

13. Epping Forest Youth 
Council presentation on 
project delivery for 2019/20 
and request for project 
budget for 2020/21 
(precedes report to O&S)

October

14. Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy – To consider 
outcomes for the district

15 Police, Fire and Crime 
Commissioner to report on 
local volunteer police 
officer provision in the 
district

16. ‘Neighbourhood Group’ 
feedback, especially in 
relation to mental health 
issues.

P
age 122



S. Tautz (June 2019)

Stronger Place Select Committee 
Work Programme 2019/20

Chairman: Councillor D Sunger
No. Item Deadline Progress and Comments Programme of 

Meetings
1. Economic Strategy Draft strategy to June meeting
2. North Weald Airfield Masterplan Appointment of masterplanners – 

decision scrutiny – June
Interim report – pre- cabinet scrutiny 
– September
Final report – post cabinet scrutiny - 
March

3. St Johns Road development Project report in September
4. Waste Contract December. Performance and 

amendments.
5. Green agenda – energy, 

sustainable transport
tbc

6. Service reviews as a result of 
performance concerns

ongoing

7. Council Housebuilding December. Progress and issues.
8. Local Plan Awaiting completion of Examination 

in Public. Annual report on housing 
issues arising from the Local Plan 
(including Private Sector Housing, 
Council Housing and Assisted Living 
Accommodation)

4 July 2019
17 September 2019
9 December 2019
24 March 2020

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



R. Perrin (June 2019)

Stronger Council Select Committee 
Work Programme 2019/20

Chairman: Councillor P Bolton
No. Item Deadline Progress and Comments Programme of 

Meetings
1. Corporate Plan Action Plan 

(KPI’s by exception) – 
performance scrutiny

Corporate Action Plan KPI’s, 
Q1 Apr, May, Jun – 9 July 2019 
meeting
Q2 Jul, Aug, Sept   - 8 Oct 2019 
meeting
Q3 Oct, Nov, Dec - 14 Jan 2020 
meeting
Q4 Jan, Feb, Mar – 14 Apr 220 0 
meeting

Live system reporting – by 
exception. No pre- distributed 
reports, projection of live data on 
the night.

2. People Strategy 9 July and 8 October 2019 - 
Project reporting, issues focussed.

3. Digital Enablement Prioritisation of Council 
Technology strategy. Outcome 
focussed 14 January 2020

4. Accommodation 9 July and 8 October 2019 - 
Project reporting, issues focussed

5. Financial Issues Paper 9 July 2019 Scrutiny of MTFS 
20/21 onwards

9 July 2019
8 October 2019
14 January 2020
14 April 2020

P
age 125



R. Perrin (June 2019)

6. Draft budget scrutiny 2020/21 budget setting (joint with 
FPMCC) 14 January 2020

7. Asset Management Strategy Council asset strategy (new) Approved by the Cabinet 13/06/19 
and referred to Council 30/07/19 for 
adoption. 

8. Review of Polling Places, Polling 
Districts & Polling Stations

9 July 2019

9. Review of Local Elections 2019 October 2019

P
age 126


	Agenda
	8 Cabinet Business
	9 Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny in Local & Combined Authorities
	OS Statutory Guidance App I v1

	10 Overview & Scrutiny Select Committees - Membership 2019/20
	11 Waste Management Task & Finish Panel
	Appendix 1 - Waste Management Task & Finish Panel Terms of Refernece
	Appendix 2 - Waste Management Task & Finish Panel Work Programme

	12 Corporate Plan Action Plan Year 2 Performance Report
	Corporate Plan - Action Plan Yr 2 Perf App I

	13 Overview & Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19
	Appendix 1 - Overview & Scrutiny Annual Report 2018-19

	14 Scrutiny of External Organisation - Epping Forest College
	15 Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme
	16 Select Committees - Work Programmes
	Stronger Place Select Committee - Work Programme
	Stronger Council Select Committee - Work Programme


